UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA ATLANTA DIVISION

BOWEN, et al.,

Case No. 1:21-CV-471-MHC

Plaintiffs,

v.

PORSCHE CARS, N.A., INC.

Defendant.

CLASS ACTION SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	THE PROPOSED SETTLEMENT	4
II.	DEFINITIONS	6
III.	PRELIMINARY APPROVAL BY THE COURT AND CLASS CERTIFICATION	.10
IV.	CLAIM SUBMISSIONS	.13
V.	SETTLEMENT ADMINISTRATOR	.16
VI.	CLASS NOTICE	.18
VII.	CLAIMS PAYMENTS	.22
VIII.	CLAIMS ADMINISTRATION	.24
IX.	ESCROW ACCOUNT	.26
X.	ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS AWARD	.27
XI.	FINAL APPROVAL OF THE PROPOSED SETTLEMENT	.29
XII.	REQUESTS FOR EXCLUSION AND OBJECTIONS	.31
XIII.	DENIAL OF LIABILITY	.35
XIV.	DISMISSAL OF ACTION AND RELEASE OF CLAIMS	.37
XV.	RETENTION OF RECORDS	.46
XVI.	MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS	.46

EXHIBITS

- Exhibit 1 Claim Form
- **Exhibit 2 Email Notice**
- **Exhibit 3 Longform Notice**
- **Exhibit 4 Postcard Notice**
- Exhibit 5 Proposed Preliminary Approval Order

This Class Action Settlement Agreement ("Agreement" or "Settlement Agreement") is made by and between Plaintiffs Kent Bowen and Kathleen Darnell ("Plaintiffs") and Defendant Porsche Cars North America, Inc. ("PCNA" or "Defendant"). Plaintiffs and Defendant are referred to collectively as the "Parties." This Agreement effects a full and final settlement and dismissal with prejudice of all of the Released Claims against all Released Persons relating to the above-captioned lawsuit (the "Action") on the terms and to the full extent set forth below, subject to the approval of the Court.

I. THE PROPOSED SETTLEMENT

On January 29, 2021, Plaintiffs filed a Class Action Complaint (ECF No. 1) against PCNA in the Northern District of Georgia under Case No. 1:21-CV-471-MHC. Plaintiffs' Complaint alleged claims for trespass to personalty, violation of the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act (18 U.S.C.§ 1030), negligence, and unjust enrichment. Plaintiffs allege that the Porsche Communication Management ("PCM") unit in certain Porsche vehicles entered into a continuous reboot loop. Plaintiffs asserted their claims on behalf of a putative nationwide class of entities and individuals who owned or leased a Porsche vehicle equipped with an XM radio antenna and PCM system that received an alleged "update" to their PCM on or about May 21, 2020. On February 24, 2021, PCNA filed a Motion to Dismiss (ECF No. 14) seeking dismissal of all of Plaintiffs' claims, which Plaintiffs opposed (ECF No. 21). PCNA's Motion was granted in part and denied in part on September 20, 2021 (ECF No. 36), dismissing Plaintiffs' claims for unjust enrichment and negligence and sustaining Plaintiffs' claims for trespass and violation of the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act. On October 20, 2021, Plaintiffs filed their First Amended Complaint, which added Plaintiff Kathleen Darnell (ECF No. 40). PCNA filed its Answer to Plaintiffs' First Amended Complaint on November 3, 2021 (ECF No. 43). The Parties entered the fact discovery period on November 3, 2021, and have engaged in active discovery since that time.

After arm's length settlement negotiations facilitated by mediator L. Joseph Loveland, Jr., mediator and arbitrator with JAMS, the Parties reached a settlement that they ultimately memorialized in this Agreement, which settles the claims of all entities and individuals who, as of May 20, 2020, owned or leased a Porsche vehicle equipped with an XM radio antenna and Porsche Communication Management (PCM) system 3.1 that were or could have been brought in this action, as more fully explained below.

As discussed in greater detail below, this Agreement, if approved by the Court, provides substantial compensation to all Settlement Class Members. The amount PCNA will pay under this Agreement depends on how many Class Members timely file valid and complete claims.

Plaintiffs and Class Counsel, while believing that the claims asserted in the Action are meritorious, have considered the risks associated with the continued prosecution of this litigation and the relief secured in this Agreement, and believe that, in consideration of all the circumstances, the Proposed Settlement embodied in this Agreement is fair, reasonable, adequate, and in the best interests of the Settlement Class Members. PCNA, while denying wrongdoing of any kind and without admitting liability, nevertheless agrees to effectuate a full and final settlement of the claims asserted in this Action on the terms set forth below.

Accordingly, the Parties, through their respective counsel, agree that the Action be settled and compromised by the Plaintiffs, the Settlement Class, and Defendant on the following terms and conditions, subject to the approval of the Court after hearing.

II. DEFINITIONS

The following terms shall be defined as set forth below:

- a. "Authorized Porsche Dealer" means a car dealer authorized by PCNA to sell and service Porsche vehicles.
- b. "Claim Form" means the Court-approved claim forms, without material alteration from Exhibit 1 except those alterations necessary to convert to electronic format with the functionality described herein, that a Settlement Class Member may submit to be considered for payment under the Agreement.

- c. "Claim Payment" means the payment issued by Defendant and/or the Settlement Administrator to Settlement Class Members who submit valid and timely claims.
- d. "Claims Submission Deadline" means the date sixty (60) days after the last day of the Reimbursement Period by which Claim Forms must be received by the Settlement Administrator to be considered timely.
- e. "Class Counsel" means the attorneys approved and appointed by the Court to represent the Settlement Class Members.
- f. "Court" means the Honorable Mark H. Cohen of the Northern District of Georgia, as well as any other judicial officer who may come to have responsibility for this Action.
- g. "Effective Date" means the later of (1) the date of entry of the "Final Order and Judgment" as defined herein, or (2) the date when any and all appeals from the Final Order and Judgment have been resolved and the deadlines for further appeal or review have expired.
- h. "Eligible Vehicle" means a Porsche vehicle equipped with an XM radio antenna and Porsche Communication (PCM) system 3.1.
- i. "Email Notice" means the Court-approved Email Notice, without material alteration from Exhibit 2, to be emailed to each potential Settlement Class member for whom an email address is available.
- j. "Escrow Account" means the escrow account managed by the Escrow Agent, which shall be the sole escrow account for compensation of Settlement Class Members under the Agreement.
- k. "Escrow Agent" means the agreed-upon entity to address and hold for distribution the funds identified in this Agreement pursuant to the terms of an escrow agreement to be executed by Class Counsel and PCNA's Counsel. The Parties agree that Huntington Bank shall serve as Escrow Agent, subject to approval by the Court.
- 1. "Fairness Hearing" or "Final Approval Hearing" means the hearing conducted by the Court to consider final approval of this Agreement.

- m. "Final Order and Judgment" means the order from the Court granting the motion for final approval of the Settlement Agreement, disposing of all claims asserted in the Action, and settling and releasing all claims consistent with the terms of this Agreement.
- n. "Legally Authorized Representative" means an administrator/administratrix, personal representative, or executor/executrix of a deceased Settlement Class Member's estate; a guardian, conservator, or next friend of an incapacitated Settlement Class Member; or any other legally appointed Person or entity responsible for handling the affairs of a Settlement Class Member. For purposes of completing a Claim Form, a surviving spouse of a deceased Settlement Class Member will be considered a Legally Authorized Representative for purposes of this Agreement if no estate has been opened and no other person has legal authority for handling the affairs of the deceased Settlement Class Member.
- o. "Longform Notice" means the long-form notice without material change from Exhibit 3, which the Settlement Administrator will post to the settlement website and, upon request, mail to Settlement Class Members.
- p. "Notice Date" means the date that the mailing of the Email Notice and Postcard Notice to potential Settlement Class Members will be completed.
- q. "Opt-Out List" means the list of valid and timely requests for exclusion from the Settlement Class compiled by the Settlement Administrator.
- r. "Out-of-Pocket Costs" means monies spent (and not reimbursed by PCNA or an Authorized Porsche Dealer) by Settlement Class Members to address PCM 3.1 Rebooting Issues in an Eligible Vehicle, including (but not limited to) PCM repairs, PCM replacements, battery replacements, and towing expenses and alternative transportation costs incurred while receiving the repair or replacement (subject to the limitations outlined in Section IV of this Agreement). Out-of-Pocket Costs for towing expenses and alternative transportation costs must have been incurred due to PCM repairs or replacements to resolve PCM 3.1 Rebooting Issues in an Eligible Vehicle and must have been incurred no later than forty-eight (48) hours after the completion of the repair or replacement.

- s. "PCM 3.1 Rebooting Issues" means repeated rebooting cycles of the Porsche Communication System (PCM) occurring on or after May 20, 2020, in Porsche vehicles equipped with an XM antenna.
- t. "Person" means any natural person, individual, corporation, association, partnership, trust, or any other type of legal entity.
- u. "Postcard Notice" means the Court-approved short form notice, without material alteration from Exhibit 4, mailed via first-class mail to Settlement Class Members for whom no valid email address is available.
- v. "Proposed Preliminary Approval Order" means the proposed order attached hereto as Exhibit 5.
- w. "Proposed Settlement" means the settlement described in this Agreement, before final approval by the Court.
- x. "Reimbursement Period" means the 12 months after the date of the Final Approval Hearing.
- y. "Release" shall have the meaning given such term in Section XIV of this Agreement.
- z. "Released Claims" has the definition set forth in Section XIV of this Agreement.
- aa. "Released Persons" or "Released Parties" has the definition set forth in Paragraph 60 of this Agreement.
- bb."Releasing Parties" has the definition set forth in Paragraph 61 of this Agreement.
- cc. "Settlement Administrator" means A.B. Data, Ltd.
- dd."Settlement Class" is defined as all entities and individuals in the United States who, as of May 20, 2020, owned or leased an Eligible Vehicle. Excluded from the Class are Defendant, any Released Persons, Class Counsel, and the Court, as well as the Court's spouse, and any person within the third degree of relationship to either of them.

ee. "Settlement Class Member" means any Person encompassed by the definition of the Settlement Class and not excluded from the class as set forth in II.dd., and who does not timely and validly opt out from the Settlement Class.

III. PRELIMINARY APPROVAL BY THE COURT AND CLASS CERTIFICATION

1. Promptly after this Agreement is signed, but by no later than thirty (30) days after the Agreement is signed, Plaintiffs shall file the Agreement with the Court, together with a Motion for Preliminary Approval of the Class Action Settlement Agreement and Approval of Class Notice. In that motion, Plaintiffs shall ask the Court to find, under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(e)(1)(B)(ii), that the Court will likely be able to certify the Settlement Class for purposes of judgment on the Proposed Settlement, under Rules 23(a), 23(b)(3), and 23(e) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. It is expressly agreed that any certification of the Settlement Class shall be for settlement purposes only, and PCNA does not waive any arguments it may have that class certification for any other purpose would be improper.

2. Plaintiffs shall submit this fully executed Agreement to the Court, and request entry of the Proposed Preliminary Approval Order, without material alteration from Exhibit 5, or an Order that includes the substance of the Proposed Preliminary Approval Order, and specifically that:

- a. preliminarily approves this Agreement;
- b. finds that the Court possesses personal jurisdiction over Defendant and all Settlement Class Members and possesses subject matter jurisdiction to preliminarily approve this Agreement;

- c. finds, under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(e)(1)(B)(ii), that the Court will likely be able to certify the Settlement Class for purposes of judgment on the Proposed Settlement;
- d. finds, under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23(e)(1)(B)(i), that the Court will likely be able to approve the Proposed Settlement under Rule 23(e)(2) as fair, reasonable, and adequate so as to warrant providing notice to the Settlement Class;
- e. approves the plan for disseminating notice to the Settlement Class consistent with this Agreement;
- f. approves the Claim Form to be distributed to and/or used by Settlement Class Members, and sets a Claims Submission Deadline by which the Claim Forms must be received by the Settlement Administrator in order to be deemed timely consistent with the timing requirement set forth in Paragraph 9;
- g. approves the settlement website as described herein, which may be amended during the course of the settlement as appropriate and agreed to by both Parties, and which shall be maintained for at least sixty (60) days after the Claims Submission Deadline;
- h. appoints A.B. Data, Ltd. as the Settlement Administrator;
- i. determines that the notice provided to potential Settlement Class Members (i) is the best practicable notice under the circumstances; (ii) is reasonably calculated, under the circumstances, to apprise the Settlement Class of the pendency of the Action and their right to object to or exclude themselves from the Proposed Settlement; and (iii) constitutes due, adequate, and sufficient notice to all Persons entitled to receive notice;
- j. schedules the Fairness Hearing to finally consider the fairness, reasonableness, and adequacy of the Proposed Settlement and whether it should be finally approved by the Court on a date not sooner than one-hundred and five (105) days after entry of the Preliminary Approval Order;

- k. requires the Settlement Administrator to file proof of completion of notice at least ten (10) days prior to the Fairness Hearing, along with the Opt-Out List, which shall be a list of all Persons who timely and validly requested exclusion from the Settlement Class, and a declaration or affidavit attesting to the accuracy of the Opt-Out List;
- 1. requires each potential Settlement Class Member who wishes to exclude himself or herself from the Settlement Class to submit an appropriate, timely request for exclusion, postmarked no later than thirty (30) days prior to the Final Approval Hearing;
- m. orders that any Settlement Class Member who does not submit a timely, written request for exclusion from the Settlement Class will be bound by all proceedings, orders, and judgments in the Action;
- n. provides that all findings and actions relating to class certification are undertaken on the condition that they shall be automatically vacated if this Agreement is terminated or is disapproved in whole or in part by the Court, the 11th Circuit Court of Appeals, or the United States Supreme Court, or if the agreement to settle is revoked, in which event this Agreement and the fact that it was entered into shall not be offered, received, or construed as an admission by any Party of liability or of the certifiability of any class;
- requires each Settlement Class Member who does not submit a timely request for exclusion from the Settlement Class and wishes to object to the fairness, reasonableness, or adequacy of this Agreement or to intervene in the Action, to follow the procedures set forth in Section XII of this Agreement, including those requirements applicable to any attorney representing a Settlement Class Member;
- p. requires any attorney hired by a Settlement Class Member for the purpose of objecting to any term or aspect of this Agreement or the Proposed Settlement or intervening in this Action to provide to the Settlement Administrator (who shall forward to Class Counsel and Counsel for PCNA) and to file with Clerk of Court, a notice of appearance, no later than the deadline for submitting objections.
- q. directs the Settlement Administrator to rent a post office box to which requests for exclusion, objections, notices of intention to appear, and

any other settlement-related communication may be sent, and provides that only the Settlement Administrator, the Court, the Clerk of the Court, and their designated agents shall have access to this post office box, except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement;

- r. directs the Settlement Administrator to promptly provide copies of all objections, requests for exclusion, motions to intervene, notices of intention to appear, or other communications that come into its possession to Class Counsel and Defendant's counsel;
- s. stays all proceedings in the Action until further order of the Court, except that the Parties may conduct proceedings necessary to implement the Proposed Settlement or effectuate the terms of this Agreement; and
- t. implements or orders any other provisions or directives or procedures not contemplated by the Parties, if necessary to comply with governing law and/or binding precedent and if such provisions do not materially alter the substantive terms of this Agreement.
- 3. In the event that the Proposed Settlement is not consummated for any

reason, (a) the Parties and their attorneys shall proceed as though the Agreement had never been entered and the Parties and their Counsel shall not cite nor reference this Agreement (except as necessary in filings or briefings in this Action only); and (b) nothing in this Agreement may be used as an admission or offered into evidence in any proceeding.

IV. CLAIM SUBMISSIONS

4. Upon submission of a valid claim, Settlement Class Members will be entitled to monetary compensation through one of two options.

Option 1: Reimbursement of all Out-of-Pocket Costs, subject to a \$7,500 maximum reimbursement per Eligible Vehicle and the limitations set forth in Paragraph 6 regarding repairs or replacements performed after the Notice Date. Any towing and alternative transportation costs, to be compensable, must have been incurred due to a repair or replacement to resolve the PCM 3.1 Rebooting Issues in the Eligible Vehicle and must have been incurred no later than 48 hours after the completion of the repair or replacement. To receive payment under Option 1, Settlement Class Members must complete all information requested in the Option 1 section of the Claim Form, including listing the total Out-of-Pocket Costs sought, affirming that such costs have not previously been reimbursed by PCNA or an Authorized Porsche Dealer, and substantiating their claim with documentation, such as invoices or receipts specifying the Out-of-Pocket Costs incurred and the date the Out-of-Pocket Costs were incurred.

Option 2: Settlement Class Members who experienced PCM 3.1 Rebooting Issues and spent time addressing rebooting of their PCM on or after May 20, 2020, but who did not incur Out-of-Pocket Costs and/or do not have documentation to substantiate their Out-of-Pocket Costs may elect to receive either (i) a cash payment of \$25 or (ii) a \$50 credit at an Authorized Porsche Dealer. To receive payment under Option 2, Settlement Class Members must complete all information requested in the Option 2 section of the Claim Form.

5. A Settlement Class Member may only recover once per Eligible Vehicle. For each Eligible Vehicle, Settlement Class Members may submit a claim under either Option 1 or Option 2, but not both. A Settlement Class Member may submit a claim under Option 1 for one Eligible Vehicle and another claim under Option 2 for a different Eligible Vehicle, but may not submit multiple claims related to a single Eligible Vehicle.

6. Claims under Option 1 and Option 2 will continue to be available to Settlement Class Members whose Eligible Vehicles have experienced or will experience PCM 3.1 Rebooting Issues, through the Reimbursement Period. Out-of-Pocket Costs for repair or replacement related to PCM 3.1 Rebooting Issues incurred after the Notice Date will only be recoverable if the repair or replacement is performed by an Authorized Porsche Dealer.

7. The Claim Form shall be without material alteration from Exhibit 1, except for changes necessary for conversion to electronic format.

8. Each Settlement Class Member will be provided an opportunity to submit a Claim Form via mail or electronically.

9. To be considered for payment, a Claim Form must be received by the Settlement Administrator no later than sixty (60) days after the last day of the

Reimbursement Period. In addition, for the claim to be valid, the claimant must be a Settlement Class Member and the Claims Form must include all required information and documentation. As set forth in Paragraph 33.d., the Settlement Administrator will provide Settlement Class Members with notice and an opportunity to cure defects in the submitted Claim Form.

V. SETTLEMENT ADMINISTRATOR

10. The Parties agree to the appointment of A.B. Data, Ltd. as Settlement Administrator to perform the services described herein. Defendant shall be solely responsible for the payment of the Settlement Administrator's fees and costs, including all costs relating to dissemination of class notice and claims administration. Payments to Settlement Class Members will not be reduced or affected in any way by Defendant's agreement to pay the fees and costs of the Settlement Administrator.

The Settlement Administrator shall assist with the various administrative tasks set forth herein and any others necessary to implement the terms of this Agreement and the Proposed Settlement as preliminarily approved, including:
 (i) sending Email Notice and mailing or arranging for the mailing of the Postcard Notice described herein and submitting to the Parties and Court an affidavit offering proof thereof; (ii) handling email or mail returned as not delivered and making additional mailings as required under the terms of the Agreement; (iii) responding,

as necessary, to inquiries from Settlement Class Members; (iv) providing to Class Counsel and Defendant's Counsel, within three (3) business days of receipt, copies of all objections, motions to intervene, notices of intention to appear, and requests for exclusion from the Settlement Class; (v) preparing a list of all Persons who timely requested exclusion from the Settlement Class and submitting to the Court the Opt-Out List and supporting affidavit no later than ten (10) days before the Fairness Hearing scheduled by the Court; (vi) preparing a list of all Persons who submitted objections to the settlement and submitting an affidavit testifying to the accuracy of that list; (vii) preparing a list of all Persons who make a timely claim; (viii) implementing procedures for processing and handling claims submissions consistent with Section VIII; and (ix) promptly responding to requests for information and documents from Class Counsel, Defendant, and/or Defendant's Counsel.

12. As set forth herein, the Settlement Administrator shall set up, coordinate, maintain and/or implement (a) the post office box described in Paragraph 29; (b) the live call center as described in Paragraph 28; and (c) the website described in Paragraphs 25-27.

13. In no event shall the Parties or their counsel have any liability for the acts or omissions of the Settlement Administrator, or their agents, employees, or contractors.

14. All information submitted or created in connection with claims program (including all information provided in Claim Forms and the emails and addresses furnished to the Settlement Administrator in order to carry out the notice program) is confidential. Such information may be disclosed only to Defendant, Defendant's counsel, Class Counsel, the Settlement Administrator, and the Court. Such information may be used only for purposes of performing the obligations and exercising the rights created by this Settlement Agreement or in Court proceedings relating to approval of the Proposed Settlement.

VI. CLASS NOTICE

15. Defendant will pay all costs of effectuating and implementing the notice to the Settlement Class set forth herein.

16. Within fourteen (14) days of the Preliminary Approval Order, Defendant will provide all last-known physical addresses and email addresses it possesses for the Settlement Class to the Settlement Administrator.

17. Within thirty (30) days of the Preliminary Approval Order, the Settlement Administrator shall substantially complete the process of sending notice to Settlement Class Members.

18. Email Notice shall be sent to each potential Settlement Class Member, for whom Defendant possesses an email address on a date suggested by the Settlement Administrator and shall include a hyperlink to the Claim Form on the settlement website.

19. No later than sixty (60) days before the Claims Submission Deadline, a final reminder notice shall be emailed to each potential Settlement Class Member who has not yet submitted a Claim Form or request for exclusion. The Settlement Administrator, in consultation with the Parties, will determine the specific wording and layout of this reminder notice, which will be consistent with the Email Notice approved by the Court. The reminder notice described in this paragraph will only be sent via email.

20. Where the email address of a Settlement Class Member cannot be located or the email address of a Settlement Class Member is found to be no longer valid, the Settlement Administrator will undertake to send such Settlement Class Members a Postcard Notice, in the same form as Exhibit 4 through first-class U.S. mail.

21. Prior to mailing Postcard Notice, the Settlement Administrator shall run physical mailing addresses through the National Change of Address Database ("NCOA") to attempt to obtain the most current name and/or physical mailing address for each potential Settlement Class Member who cannot be reached through Email Notice.

22. If any Postcard Notice mailed to any potential Settlement Class Member is returned to the Settlement Administrator as undeliverable, the Settlement Administrator will promptly log each Postcard Notice that is returned as undeliverable and provide copies of the log to Defendant and Class Counsel upon request. If the mailing is returned to the Settlement Administrator with a forwarding address, the Settlement Administrator shall forward the mailing to that address. For the remaining returned mailings, the Settlement Administrator will use reasonable efforts, including potentially an Experian search or skip tracing, to attempt to obtain a new address, and those mailings shall be forwarded to any new address obtained through such a search. If any Postcard Notice is returned as undeliverable a second time, no further mailing shall be required. It is agreed by the Parties that the procedures set forth in the preceding Paragraphs and this Paragraph constitute reasonable and the best practicable notice under the circumstances and an appropriate and sufficient effort to locate current addresses for Settlement Class Members such that no additional efforts to do so shall be required. PCNA represents that it has conducted a reasonably diligent inquiry and has concluded that it possesses email addresses and/or mailing addresses for substantially all potential Settlement Class members.

23. The Parties agree that the Longform Notice and Claim Form, without material alteration from Exhibits 1 and 3, shall be posted to the settlement website

as set forth below, and will be available upon request to all potential Settlement Class Members.

24. The Longform Notice and Claim Form will also be made available to all potential Settlement Class Members by request to the Settlement Administrator, who shall send via first-class U.S. mail any of these documents as requested by any potential Settlement Class Member.

25. The Settlement Administrator shall initiate and continue to maintain the website www.PorschePCMSettlement.com and post the Settlement Agreement, Postcard Notice, Longform Notice, Claim Form, Preliminary Approval Order, and frequently asked questions. The website may be amended from time to time as agreed to by the Parties. The Settlement Administrator shall maintain the website for at least sixty (60) days after expiration of the Claims Submission Deadline.

26. The home page of the website shall reflect the case settlement and shall have a "Make A Claim" button permitting a Settlement Class Member to access the Claim Form, with a method to submit the Claim Form electronically with a signature submitted through an electronic signature service in which the claimant may sign electronically using a computer, tablet, smart phone, or similar device, and a method to request that a copy of a paper Claim Form be mailed or emailed to the Settlement Class Member.

27. The website shall provide that a Settlement Class Member may submit a Claim Form electronically by entering or uploading all required information and documentation under Option 1 or Option 2, and by signing and submitting the Claim Form through submission of a signature submitted through an electronic signature service in which the claimant may sign electronically using a computer, tablet, smart phone, or similar device.

28. The Settlement Administrator shall maintain a live call center 24/7 with a person who will answer the potential Settlement Class Members' questions using an agreed upon script and can further take name, address, and relevant information to send out Longform Notices.

29. The Settlement Administrator shall rent a post office box to be used for receiving requests for exclusion, objections, notices of intention to appear, and any other settlement-related communications. Only the Settlement Administrator, the Court, the Clerk of the Court, and their designated agents shall have access to this post office box, except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement.

VII. CLAIM PAYMENTS

30. To be eligible for a Claim Payment under this Settlement Agreement, a Settlement Class Member or his or her Legally Authorized Representative must timely submit a Claim Form that satisfies the requirements prescribed herein and must not have submitted a request for exclusion.

- a. Settlement Class Members seeking a cash payment will, by default, be paid electronically. During the claims process, Settlement Class Members will be able to select from the following options for receiving their Claim Payment electronically: PayPal, Venmo, or ACH. In lieu of electronic payment, Settlement Class Members seeking a cash payment may request to receive their Claim Payment via check, which the Settlement Administrator will cause to be mailed to the Settlement Class Member. Checks will be valid for ninety (90) days from the issuance date and, if the Settlement Class Member does not cash or deposit the check during this time, such funds will revert to the Escrow Account. The Settlement Administrator shall make Claims Payments as set forth in this subparagraph within thirty (30) days of the later of (i) the Settlement Administrator's receipt of a timely and valid claim, or (ii) the Effective Date. For avoidance of doubt, no payments will be made prior to the Effective Date.
- b. Settlement Class Members who make a claim under Option 2 may elect to receive a dealer credit valid at Authorized Porsche Dealers in lieu of receiving a cash payment. For avoidance of doubt, no credits will be provided prior to the Effective Date.

31. The Settlement Administrator shall establish procedures for receiving and processing Claim Forms consistent with Section VIII.

32. The Claim Payment described herein is the only payment to which Settlement Class Members are entitled under this Agreement. The payments shall be in full and final disposition of the Action, and in consideration for the release of any and all Released Claims as against any and all Released Persons. Any rights to Claim Payments under this Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit of Settlement Class Members and are not transferable or assignable to others.

VIII. CLAIMS ADMINISTRATION

33. Claim Forms that are timely submitted (either electronically or by mailing to the correct address) shall be processed as follows:

- a. To receive a Claim Payment under Option 1, Settlement Class Members must complete all information requested in the Option 1 section of the Claim Form and substantiate their claimed Out-of-Pocket Costs with documentation, *e.g.*, invoices and/or receipts, specifying the Out-of-Pocket Costs incurred and the date those Out-of-Pocket Costs were incurred.
- b. To receive a Claim Payment under Option 2, Settlement Class Members must complete all information requested in the Option 2 section of the Claim Form, including a sworn statement that the Settlement Class Member spent time addressing PCM 3.1 Rebooting Issues on or after May 20, 2020.
- c. If there is uncertainty as to whether a claim is valid, the Settlement Administrator shall consult with Class Counsel and Defendant's Counsel as to the validity of the claim and/or whether additional information or documentation will be required for the Settlement Class Member to receive compensation, and the Parties agree to work in good faith to resolve any

disputes as to the validity of claims or the documentation necessary to substantiate same.

- d. If a Claim Form is unsigned, illegible, incomplete, does not include the required documentation of Out-of-Pocket Costs under Option 1, does not include all of the required information in Claim Form, or indicates that the claimant is not a Settlement Class Member entitled to payment, the Settlement Administrator shall send the claimant a letter and/or email, with a copy to Defendant's Counsel and Class Counsel, informing him or her of the defect and providing the claimant with thirty (30) days in which to cure the defect. If the claimant does not subsequently provide an amended Claim Form and/or documentation curing the defect and postmarked or electronically submitted within thirty (30) days of the date of the Settlement Administrator's letter, that Claim Form shall be deemed defective and not eligible for payment, and the claimant shall not have an additional opportunity to cure the defect. However, regardless of any uncured defect, the Settlement Class Member's Release remains effective as to the Released Parties. PCNA retains the right, but has no obligation, to exercise discretion to authorize the Settlement Administrator to approve a Claim Payment notwithstanding any such defect.
- e. On a rolling basis following the Effective Date, the Settlement Administrator shall initiate electronic payment or mail a check for the full amount of Claim Payments to all Settlement Class Members with valid claims. Defendant shall provide sufficient funding to the Escrow Account to enable the Settlement Administrator to timely make the payments identified in Section VII.
- f. Claim Forms that are not timely received by the Settlement Administrator will not be considered for payment, and the Settlement Class Members whose Claim Forms are deemed untimely will be provided written notice thereof, but the Settlement Class Member's Release will remain effective as to the Released Parties. PCNA retains the right, but has no obligation, to exercise discretion to authorize the Settlement Administrator to approve a Claim Payment notwithstanding any such untimeliness.
- g. All Claim Payments to Settlement Class Members through a paper check will be through checks which indicate on their face that they are void after ninety (90) days from the date issued. Any checks not cashed by that date shall be voided, the funds will remain in the Escrow Account (until such

time as those funds revert to Defendant), and Defendant shall not be liable for payment of those claims.

IX. ESCROW ACCOUNT

34. Within ten (10) business days after the Court enters the Final Approval Order, PCNA shall fund the Escrow Account with the "Funding Amount," which funds shall be used, as necessary, to compensate Class Members who submit valid claims pursuant to this Agreement. The initial Funding Amount shall be \$300,000. If and when the funding level of the Escrow Account reaches the "Minimum Balance," which shall initially be set at \$25,000, the Escrow Agent shall alert PCNA, and PCNA shall, within seven (7) business days, deposit such funds in the Escrow Account back to the Funding Amount.

35. One-hundred-twenty (120) days after the Claims Submission Deadline, any funds in the Escrow Account, including all interest accrued, shall revert to PCNA, and this reversion will occur only after all timely and valid claims have been paid.

36. In the event that the Settlement Agreement is terminated or invalidated for any reason prior to the conclusion of the Reimbursement Period, any funds in the Escrow Account, including all interest accrued, shall revert to PCNA.

X. ATTORNEYS' FEES AND COSTS AWARD

37. PCNA agrees to pay the reasonable attorneys' fees and litigation costs of Class Counsel separate from and in addition to any payments to the Settlement Class Members in an amount not to exceed \$2,050,000 as set forth in Paragraphs 37-41. Plaintiffs, through Class Counsel, shall petition the Court for such attorneys' fees and litigation costs at least twenty-one (21) days before the Court's deadline for objections to the Proposed Settlement.

38. Class Counsel agrees not to seek more than \$1,975,000 in attorneys' fees for work performed by Class Counsel in connection with this Action and no more than \$75,000 in reimbursement of litigation costs actually incurred in this Action. If Class Counsel's fee request does not exceed \$1,975,000 and their request for costs does not exceed \$75,000, PCNA agrees not to oppose, undermine, or solicit others to oppose or undermine Class Counsel's motion for attorneys' fees and reimbursement of litigation costs and, if Class Counsel's request is granted by the Court, PCNA agrees to pay Class Counsel's Court-approved attorneys' fees and Court-approved litigation costs and waives its right to appeal such award of fees and costs, provided that the amount awarded by the Court in attorneys' fees does not exceed \$1,975,000 and the amount awarded by the Court for litigation costs does not exceed \$75,000. By executing this Agreement, Plaintiffs and Class Counsel agree that an award of attorneys' fees and litigation costs up to the amounts listed in this

Paragraph constitutes a reasonable award for the work performed and costs incurred in connection with this Action and that they will not seek any additional award exceeding these amounts in any future proceeding.

39. A decision by the Court to award less than the total amount of fees and costs requested by Class Counsel, or a subsequent decision by an appellate court to reduce the award of fees and costs due to Class Counsel, shall not be grounds for Plaintiffs, Class Counsel, or the Settlement Class Members to withdraw from this Settlement Agreement, and the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

40. Within ten (10) business days of the later of the Effective Date of a final order after all appeals have been exhausted approving Class Counsel's request for attorneys' fees, costs and expenses, PCNA shall pay to Class Counsel all Court-approved attorneys' fees and litigation costs ordered by the Court, provided that the amount awarded by the Court in attorneys' fees does not exceed \$1,975,000 and provided that the amount awarded by the Court in litigation costs does not exceed \$75,000. In the event that the award of attorneys' fees and litigation costs is reduced by the Court or on appeal, PCNA shall only pay the reduced amount of such award. Class Counsel shall timely furnish to PCNA any required tax information, account information, or necessary forms before the payment is due.

41. The payment of attorneys' fees and litigation costs pursuant to Paragraphs 37-40 shall be made through a wired deposit by PCNA into the attorney client trust account to be designated by Class Counsel. After the attorneys' fees and litigation costs have been deposited into this account, Class Counsel shall be solely responsible for allocating such attorneys' fees and litigation costs and distributing each participating firm's allocated share of such attorneys' fees and litigation costs to that firm, and PCNA shall have no responsibility for distribution of attorneys' fees and litigation costs among participating firms.

42. PCNA's agreement to pay Class Counsel's reasonable attorneys' fees and litigation costs pursuant to Paragraphs 37-41 is separate from PCNA's commitment to pay the Settlement Administrator's fees and costs pursuant to Paragraph 10.

XI. FINAL APPROVAL OF THE PROPOSED SETTLEMENT

43. Class Counsel will file a motion seeking the Court's final approval of the Proposed Settlement fifty-one (51) days prior to the Fairness Hearing to be held at a time, date, and location as set by the Court and that will be stated in the Email Notice and Postcard Notice as well as on the settlement website. The motion shall request, at minimum, the Court to enter a Final Order and Judgment that:

a. certifies the Settlement Class for settlement purposes only;

- b. finds the Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant and all Settlement Class Members and subject matter jurisdiction to approve this Agreement and all Exhibits thereto;
- c. gives final approval to the Proposed Settlement and directs the Parties and counsel to comply with and consummate the terms of the Agreement;
- d. finds that Class Counsel and the Plaintiff adequately represented the Settlement Class;
- e. finds that the terms of this Agreement are fair, reasonable, and adequate to the Settlement Class Members, consistent and in compliance with all requirements of due process and applicable law;
- f. finds that the class notice set forth in this Agreement (i) constituted the best practicable notice under the circumstances; (ii) was reasonably calculated to apprise potential Settlement Class Members of the pendency of the Action, their right to object to or exclude themselves from the Proposed Settlement, and to appear at the Fairness Hearing; (iii) constituted due, adequate, and sufficient process and notice to all Persons entitled to receive notice; and (iv) satisfied all requirements of due process and applicable law;
- g. determines that the Agreement and the settlement provided for herein, and any proceedings taken pursuant thereto, are not, and should not in any event be offered, received, or construed as evidence of, a presumption, concession, or an admission by any Party of liability or of the certifiability of a litigation class; provided, however, that reference may be made to this Agreement and the settlement provided for herein in such proceedings as may be necessary to effectuate the provisions of this Agreement, as further set forth in this Agreement;
- h. approves the Opt-Out List and finds that the Opt-Out List is a complete list of all persons and entities who have timely requested exclusion from the Settlement Class and, accordingly, neither share in nor are bound by the Final Order and Judgment;
- i. provides that the Plaintiffs, all Settlement Class Members who have not been excluded from the Settlement Class as provided in the Opt-Out

List, and their heirs, estates, trustees, executors, administrators, principals, beneficiaries, representatives, agents, assigns, and successors, and/or anyone else claiming through them or acting or purporting to act for them or on their behalf, regardless of whether they have submitted a Claim Form, and regardless of whether they have received actual notice of the Proposed Settlement, have conclusively compromised, settled, discharged, and released all Released Claims against Defendant and the Released Persons, and are bound by the provisions of this Agreement;

- j. dismisses all claims in the Action on the merits and with prejudice, and without fees or costs except as provided herein, and entering final judgment thereon; and
- k. determines the amount of the attorneys' fees and costs award to Class Counsel.

44. Defendant will not oppose final approval of the Settlement Agreement

as set forth herein, except that Defendant reserves the right to object to and appeal any order awarding attorneys' fees exceeding \$1,975,000 and/or any order awarding litigation costs exceeding \$75,000.

XII. REQUESTS FOR EXCLUSION AND OBJECTIONS

45. The Parties and their respective counsel agree not to solicit or encourage any Person in requesting exclusion from the Settlement Class.

46. Potential Settlement Class Members who wish to exclude themselves from the Settlement Class must submit timely and written requests for exclusion. To be effective, such a request must include (i) the potential Settlement Class Member's name, address, and Vehicle Identification Number (VIN) and dates of ownership or lease of the potential Settlement Class Member's Eligible Vehicle(s); (ii) an unequivocal statement that the Settlement Class Member wishes to be excluded from the Settlement Class; and (iii) the signature of the Settlement Class Member or the Legally Authorized Representative of the Settlement Class Member. The request must be mailed to the Settlement Administrator at the address provided in the Longform Notice postmarked no later than thirty (30) days prior to the Final Approval Hearing. Requests for exclusion must be exercised individually by the Settlement Class Member and are only effective as to the individual Settlement Class Member requesting exclusion.

47. Plaintiffs shall not elect or seek to opt out or exclude themselves from the Settlement Class.

48. The Settlement Administrator shall provide to Class Counsel and Defendant's Counsel, within three (3) business days of receipt, copies of all requests for exclusion from the Settlement Class. The Settlement Administrator shall also promptly log and prepare a list of all Persons who validly and timely requested exclusion from the Settlement Class (the "Opt-Out List") and shall submit an affidavit to the Court which includes and attests to the accuracy of the Opt-Out List no later than ten (10) days prior to the Final Fairness Hearing set by the Court.

49. All Settlement Class Members who do not timely and properly exclude themselves from the Settlement Class shall be bound by this Agreement, and their

claims shall be dismissed with prejudice and released to the extent provided for herein pursuant to the terms of a Final Order and Judgment.

50. Settlement Class Members who do not request exclusion from the Settlement Class may object to the Proposed Settlement. Settlement Class Members who choose to object to the Proposed Settlement must submit timely and written notices of their objections. Any Settlement Class Member who timely submits an objection in compliance with this paragraph may appear at the Fairness Hearing, in person or by counsel, and be heard to the extent and only if permitted by the Court. The Parties may serve discovery under Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 30, 33, and 34 on any objecting Settlement Class Member, including to obtain evidence substantiating that the objector is a member of the Settlement Class.

51. To be timely, a Settlement Class Member's objection or motion to intervene must be submitted to the Court and served on the Settlement Administrator no later than thirty (30) days prior to the Final Approval Hearing.

52. The right to object to the Proposed Settlement or to intervene in the Action must be exercised individually (*i.e.*, not aggregated with objections of other Settlement Class Members) by a Settlement Class Member or his or her attorney or Legally Authorized Representative.

53. An objection to the Proposed Settlement must:

a. Include the name of the case and case number;

- b. Provide the name, address, telephone number, VIN and dates of ownership or lease of the Settlement Class Member's Eligible Vehicle(s), and signature of the Settlement Class Member filing the objection;
- c. Provide a statement that the objector has reviewed the Settlement Class definition and understands that he or she is a Settlement Class Member, and has not opted out and does not plan to opt out of the Settlement Class;
- d. Indicate the specific reasons why the Settlement Class Member objects to the Proposed Settlement;
- e. Contain the name, address, bar number, and telephone number of the objecting Settlement Class Member's counsel, if any, and any such attorney must comply with all applicable rules of the Court; and
- f. State whether the objecting Settlement Class Member intends to appear at the Fairness Hearing, either in person or through counsel.
- 54. In addition, an objection must contain the following information if the

Settlement Class Member or his or her attorney requests permission to speak at the

Fairness Hearing:

- a. A detailed statement of the legal and factual basis for each objection;
- b. A list of any and all witnesses the Settlement Class Member may seek to call at the Fairness Hearing (subject to applicable rules of procedure and evidence and at the discretion of the Court), with the address of each witness and a summary of his or her proposed testimony; and
- c. A list of any legal authority the Settlement Class Member will present at the Fairness Hearing.
- 55. Any Settlement Class Member who does not submit a timely objection may, in the discretion of the Court, waive the right to object or to be heard at the

Fairness Hearing and be barred from making any objection to the Proposed Settlement. Settlement Class Members who object to the Proposed Settlement shall remain Settlement Class Members and waive their right to pursue an independent remedy against Defendant to the extent their claims are released consistent with this Agreement. To the extent any Settlement Class Member objects to the Proposed Settlement, and such objection is overruled in whole or in part, such Settlement Class Member will be forever bound by the Final Order and Judgment of the Court. Settlement Class Members can avoid being bound by any judgment of the Court by complying with the exclusion provisions set forth herein. If a potential Settlement Class Member excludes themselves from the Settlement Class, they waive any right to object to the Final Approval of the Proposed Settlement.

56. The Settlement Administrator shall provide Class Counsel and Defendant's Counsel a copy of each objection, motion to intervene, or notice of intention to appear received by the Settlement Administrator within three (3) business days of receipt.

XIII. DENIAL OF LIABILITY

57. Defendant maintains it acted in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations. Defendant nonetheless has concluded that it is in its best interests that the Action be settled on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement. Defendant reached this conclusion after considering the factual and legal issues in

the Action, the substantial benefits of a final resolution of the Action, and the expense that would be necessary to defend the Action through judgment, appeal, and any subsequent proceedings that may occur. Defendant believes that it stands a reasonable chance of success in the Action and in any appeal as to the merits of this case and as to the certification of a litigation class. Defendant maintains that its defenses on the merits and on class certification are meritorious. Because of the costs, resources, and time that would be incurred, Defendant asserts that it would not have settled this Action except on the terms set forth in this Agreement.

58. As a result of the foregoing, Defendant enters into this Agreement without admitting, conceding, or acknowledging any fault, liability, or wrongdoing of any kind. This Agreement shall not be construed as an admission or concession of the truth of any of the allegations in the Action, or of any liability, fault, or wrongdoing of any kind. The terms of this Agreement, including the nature of the Agreement, are material to Defendant's decision to settle this Action notwithstanding its belief that its defenses are meritorious and its chances of success in this Action and in any appeal are significant. Moreover, Defendant denies any fault, wrongdoing or liability to Plaintiffs or the Settlement Class Members for monetary damages or other relief, but believes that the proposed settlement herein is desirable in order to avoid the further significant burden, expense, risk, and

inconvenience of protracted litigation, and the distraction and diversion of its personnel and resources.

XIV. DISMISSAL OF ACTION AND RELEASE OF CLAIMS

59. Upon the Effective Date, the Plaintiffs, all Settlement Class Members, and their heirs, estates, trustees, executors, administrators, principals, beneficiaries, representatives, agents, assigns, and successors, and/or anyone else claiming through them or acting or purporting to act for them or on their behalf, regardless of whether they have submitted a Claim Form, will be bound by the Final Order and Judgment and conclusively deemed to have fully released, acquitted, and forever discharged all Released Persons from all Released Claims as outlined and defined below (the "Release").

60. "Released Persons" or "Released Parties" means (1) Porsche Cars North America, Inc., Porsche Automobil Holding SE, Porsche Holding Stuttgart GmbH, Dr. Ing. h.c. F. Porsche AG, Porsche Financial Services, Inc., Porsche Leasing Ltd., and any former, present, and future owners, shareholders, directors, officers, employees, attorneys, affiliates, parent companies, subsidiaries, predecessors, and successors of any of the foregoing (the "Porsche Released Entities"); (2) any and all contractors, subcontractors, and suppliers of the Porsche Released Entities; (3) any and all persons and entities indemnified by any Porsche Released Entity with respect to PCM 3.1 Rebooting Issues; (4) any and all other

persons and entities involved in the design, research, development, manufacture, assembly, testing, sale, leasing, repair, warranting, marketing, advertising, public relations, promotion, or distribution of any Eligible Vehicle, even if such persons are not specifically named in this paragraph, including without limitation all Porsche Authorized Dealers, as well as non-authorized dealers and sellers; (5) the Settlement Administrator; (6) lenders, creditors, financial institutions, or any other parties that financed any purchase or lease of an Eligible Vehicle; and (7) for each of the foregoing, their respective former, present, and future affiliates, parent companies, subsidiaries, predecessors, successors, shareholders, indemnitors, subrogees, spouses, joint ventures, general or limited partners, attorneys, assigns, principals, officers, directors, employees, members, agents, representatives, trustees, insurers, reinsurers, heirs, beneficiaries, wards, estates, executors, administrators, receivers, conservators, personal representatives, divisions, dealers, and suppliers.

61. In consideration for the Settlement Agreement, Plaintiffs and Settlement Class Members, on behalf of themselves and their agents, heirs, executors and administrators, successors, assigns, insurers, attorneys, representatives, shareholders, owners associations, and any other legal or natural persons who may claim by, though, or under them (the "Releasing Parties"), fully, finally, irrevocably, and forever release, waive, discharge, relinquish, settle, and acquit any and all claims, demands, actions, or causes of action, whether known or unknown, that they may have, purport to have, or may have hereafter against any Released Party, as defined above, arising out of or in any way related to PCM 3.1 Rebooting Issues. This Release applies to any and all claims, demands, actions, or causes of action of any kind or nature whatsoever, whether in law or in equity, known or unknown, direct, indirect or consequential, liquidated or unliquidated, past, present or future, foreseen or unforeseen, developed or undeveloped, contingent or non-contingent, suspected or unsuspected, whether or not concealed or hidden, arising from or in any way related to PCM 3.1 Rebooting Issues, including without limitation (1) any claims that were or could have been asserted in the Action; and (2) any claims for fines, penalties, criminal assessments, economic damages, punitive damages, exemplary damages, liens, injunctive relief, attorneys', expert, consultant, or other litigation fees or costs other than fees and costs awarded by the Court in connection with this Settlement Agreement, or any other liabilities, that were or could have been asserted in any civil, criminal, administrative, or other proceeding, including arbitration (the "Released Claims"). This Release applies without limitation to any and all such claims, demands, actions, or causes of action regardless of the legal or equitable theory or nature under which they are based or advanced including without limitation legal and/or equitable theories under any federal, state, provincial, local, tribal, administrative, or international law, or statute, ordinance, code, regulation, contract, common law, equity, or any other source, and whether based in strict liability, negligence, gross negligence, punitive damages, nuisance, trespass, breach of warranty, misrepresentation, breach of contract, fraud, or any other legal or equitable theory, whether, existing now or arising in the future, that arise from or in any way relate to PCM 3.1 Rebooting Issues. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement does not release any claims for wrongful death or personal injury.

62. For the avoidance of doubt, Plaintiffs expressly understand and acknowledge, and Settlement Class Members will be deemed to understand and acknowledge, that they may hereafter discover claims presently unknown or unsuspected, or facts in addition to or different from those that they now know or believe to be true, related to PCM 3.1 Rebooting Issues, the Action and/or the Release herein. Nevertheless, it is the intention of Class Counsel and the Plaintiffs in executing this Agreement to fully, finally, irrevocably, and forever release, waive, discharge, relinquish, settle, and acquit all such matters, and all claims relating thereto which exist, hereafter may exist, or might have existed (whether or not previously or currently asserted in any action or proceeding) with respect to PCM 3.1 Rebooting Issues.

63. Plaintiffs expressly understand and acknowledge, and Settlement Class Members will be deemed to understand and acknowledge, Section 1542 of the California Civil Code, which provides: **"A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor**

at the time of executing the release, which if known by him or her must have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor." Each Plaintiff expressly acknowledges that he or she has been advised by Class Counsel of the contents and effect of Section 1542 and that he or she has considered the possibility that the number or magnitude of all claims may not currently be known. To ensure that this Release is interpreted fully in accordance with its terms, Plaintiffs and Settlement Class Members expressly waive and relinquish any and all rights and benefits that they may have under Section 1542 to the extent that such Section may be applicable to the Release. Plaintiffs and Settlement Class Members likewise expressly waive and relinquish any rights or benefits of any law of any state or territory of the United States, federal law or principle of common law, or of international or foreign law, which is similar, comparable, analogous, or equivalent to Section 1542 of the California Code to the extent that such laws or principles may be applicable to the Release.

64. Settlement Class Members who do not opt out expressly agree that this Release, and the Final Order and Judgment, is, will be, and may be raised as a complete defense to, and will preclude, any action or proceeding specified in, or involving claims encompassed by, this Release. Settlement Class Members who do not opt out shall not now or hereafter institute, maintain, prosecute, assert, and/or cooperate in the institution, commencement, filing or prosecution of any suit, action,

and/or other proceeding, against the Released Parties with respect to the claims, causes of action and/or any other matters subject to this Release. To the extent that they have initiated, or caused to be initiated, any suit, action, or proceeding not already encompassed by the Action, Settlement Class Members who do not opt out shall cause such suit, action, or proceeding to be dismissed with prejudice. If a Settlement Class Member who does not opt out commences, files, initiates, or institutes any new legal action or other proceeding for any Released Claim against any Released Party in any federal or state court, arbitral tribunal, or administrative or other forum, (1) the Released Party shall inform the Settlement Class Member about this Settlement Agreement and the Settlement Class Member's Release, and request that the action be voluntarily dismissed; (2) if such action is not voluntarily dismissed within seven (7) days of such notice, then the Released Party shall move for such legal action or other proceeding to be dismissed with prejudice and at that Settlement Class Member's cost; and (3) the respective Released Party shall be entitled to recover any and all reasonable related costs and expenses from that Settlement Class Member arising as a result of that Settlement Class Member's breach of his, her, their or its obligations under this Release.

65. Plaintiffs represent and warrant that they are the sole and exclusive owners of any and all claims that they personally are releasing under this Agreement. Plaintiffs further acknowledge that they have not assigned, pledged, or in any

manner whatsoever, sold, transferred, assigned or encumbered any right, title, interest or claim arising out of or in any way whatsoever pertaining to PCM 3.1 Rebooting Issues, including without limitation, any claim for benefits, proceeds or value under the Action, and that Plaintiffs are not aware of anyone other than themselves claiming any interest, in whole or in part, in any benefits, proceeds or values to which Plaintiffs may be entitled as a result of the PCM 3.1 Rebooting Issues. Settlement Class Members, by submitting a Claim Form, represent and warrant that they are the sole and exclusive owner of all claims that they personally are releasing under the Agreement and that they have not assigned, pledged, or in any manner whatsoever, sold, transferred, assigned or encumbered any right, title, interest or claim arising out of or in any way whatsoever pertaining to the Action, including without limitation, any claim for benefits, proceeds or value under the Action, and that such Settlement Class Members are not aware of anyone other than themselves claiming any interest, in whole or in part, in any benefits, proceeds or values to which those Settlement Class Members may be entitled as a result of the PCM 3.1 Rebooting Issues.

66. Plaintiffs expressly understand and acknowledge, and Settlement Class Members will be deemed to understand and acknowledge, that any benefits pursuant to the Agreement are in full, complete, and total satisfaction of all of the Released Claims against the Released Parties, that the benefits of the Agreement are sufficient and adequate consideration for each and every term of this Release, and that this Release shall be irrevocably binding upon Plaintiffs and Settlement Class Members who do not opt out of the Class.

67. The Release shall be effective with respect to all Releasing Parties, including all Settlement Class Members who do not opt out, regardless of whether those Settlement Class Members ultimately file a claim or receive compensation under this Agreement.

68. Class Counsel acknowledge that they have conducted sufficient independent investigation and discovery to enter into this Agreement and that they execute this Agreement freely, voluntarily, and without being pressured or influenced by, or relying on any statements, representations, promises, or inducements made by the Released Parties or any person or entity representing the Released Parties, other than as set forth in this Agreement. Plaintiffs acknowledge, agree, and specifically represent and warrant that they have discussed with Class Counsel the terms of this Agreement and have received legal advice with respect to the advisability of entering into this Agreement and the Release, and the legal effect of this Agreement and the Release. The representations and warranties made throughout the Agreement shall survive the execution of the Agreement and shall be binding upon the respective heirs, representatives, successors and assigns of the Parties.

69. Plaintiffs and Class Counsel hereby agree and acknowledge that this Section XIV was separately bargained for and constitutes a key, material term of the Agreement that shall be reflected in the Final Approval Order.

70. The Court shall retain exclusive and continuing jurisdiction over all Parties, the Action, and this Agreement to resolve any dispute that may arise regarding this Agreement or in relation to this Action, including any dispute regarding validity, performance, interpretation, administration, enforcement, enforceability, or termination of the Agreement and no Party shall oppose the reopening and reinstatement of the Action on the Court's active docket for the purposes of effecting this Section.

71. Upon entry of the Final Order and Judgment, the Action will be dismissed with prejudice as to Defendant, and the Plaintiffs and all Settlement Class Members will release all Released Persons from all Released Claims. Plaintiffs and all Settlement Class Members specifically release any right they may now or hereafter have to reform, rescind, modify, or set aside this Release or this Agreement through mutual or unilateral mistake or otherwise; and they assume the risk of such uncertainty and mistake in consideration of the consideration herein mentioned and in consideration of this being a final settlement.

XV. RETENTION OF RECORDS

72. The Settlement Administrator shall retain copies or images of all returned Notices, Claim Forms (and/or data resulting therefrom) and correspondence relating thereto, for a period of up to two (2) years after the Effective Date. After this time, upon Defendant's request, Class Counsel shall destroy non-public documents containing personally identifiable information of the Settlement Class received as part of the administration of this Agreement, including but not limited to completed Claim Forms and accompanying documentation or other reports prepared by the Settlement Administrator, but Class Counsel shall not be required to destroy any work product. Nothing herein shall alter or obviate the Parties' obligation to destroy or return any materials produced in this litigation under the terms of the Stipulated Protective Order agreed to by the Parties and entered by the Court (ECF No. 50).

XVI. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

73. Each Party to this Agreement warrants that he, she, they, or it is fully authorized to enter into this Agreement, and is acting upon his, her, their, or its independent judgment and upon the advice of his, her, their, or its counsel and not in reliance upon any warranty or representation, express or implied, of any nature or kind by any other party, other than the warranties and representations expressly made in this Agreement. 74. The Parties and undersigned counsel agree to undertake best efforts to effectuate this Agreement and the terms of the Proposed Settlement, including taking all steps and efforts contemplated by this Agreement, and any other reasonable steps and efforts which may become necessary by order of the Court or otherwise.

75. The headings and captions contained in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and in no way define, extend, limit, describe, or affect the scope, intent, meaning, or interpretation of this Agreement.

76. Unless otherwise noted, all references to "days" in this Agreement shall be to calendar days. In the event any date or deadline set forth in this Agreement falls on a weekend or federal or state legal holiday, such date or deadline shall be on the first business day thereafter.

77. Except as otherwise provided in a written amendment executed by the Parties or their counsel, this Agreement contains the entire agreement of the Parties hereto and supersedes any prior agreements or understandings between them. All terms of this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted by all parties hereto. The terms of this Agreement are and shall be binding upon each of the Parties and their agents, attorneys, employees, successors, and assigns, and upon all other Persons claiming any interest in the subject matter hereof through any of the parties hereto, including any Settlement Class Member.

78. This Agreement may be amended or modified only by a written instrument signed by all Parties.

79. This Agreement shall be subject to, governed by, construed, and enforced pursuant to the laws of the State of Georgia, without regard to principles of conflicts of law.

80. The exhibits to this Agreement are integral parts of the settlement and are hereby incorporated and made part of this Agreement.

81. To the extent permitted by law, this Agreement may be pleaded as a full and complete defense to any action, suit, or other proceeding which may be instituted, prosecuted, or attempted in breach of this Agreement.

82. This Agreement shall be deemed to have been executed upon the last date of execution by all the undersigned Parties and/or counsel.

83. The Parties expressly acknowledge and agree that this Agreement and its exhibits, along with all related drafts, motions, pleadings, conversations, negotiations, related notes, and correspondence, constitute an offer of compromise and a compromise within the meaning of Federal Rule of Evidence 408 and any equivalent rule of evidence in any state or territory.

84. Any disagreement and/or action to enforce this Agreement shall be commenced and maintained only in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia. 85. The Settlement Class, Plaintiffs, Class Counsel, PCNA, and/or PCNA's Counsel shall not be deemed to be the drafter of this Agreement or of any particular provision, nor shall they argue that any particular provision should be construed against its drafter. All Parties agree that this Agreement was drafted by counsel for the Parties during extensive arm's-length negotiations. No parol or other evidence may be offered to explain, construe, contradict, or clarify its terms, the intent of the Parties or their counsel, or the circumstances under which this Agreement was made or executed.

86. This Agreement may be signed with an electronic or facsimile signature and in counterparts, each of which shall constitute a duplicate original.

87. Whenever this Agreement requires or contemplates that one of the Parties or the Settlement Administrator shall or may give notice to a Party, notice shall be provided by e-mail and/or next-day (excluding Saturdays, Sundays and Federal Holidays) express delivery service as follows:

If to PCNA, then to:

Cari K. Dawson Kara F. Kennedy ALSTON & BIRD LLP 1201 West Peachtree Street Atlanta, GA 30309-3424 Email: cari.dawson@alston.com Email: kara.kennedy@alston.com If to Plaintiffs or the Settlement Class, then to:

Matthew R. Wilson Michael J. Boyle, Jr. MEYER WILSON CO., LPA 305 West Nationwide Boulevard Columbus, Ohio 43215 Email: mwilson@meyerwilson.com Email: mboyle@meyerwilson.com

88. The Parties' Stipulated Protective Order in this Action (ECF No. 50) remains binding on the disclosure of Confidential and Highly Confidential information under this Agreement. The confidentiality of all Confidential Information and Highly Confidential Information shall be protected from disclosure by Class Counsel and the Plaintiffs to any Person other than the Settlement Administrator or a Person authorized by Court Order.

89. The Parties agree that Class Counsel or anyone associated with Class Counsel's firms shall not utilize the Confidential Information and Highly Confidential Information, as defined in the Parties' Stipulated Protective Order (ECF No. 50), in any other litigation whether pending or future unless independently obtained through discovery or other procedures in that litigation. IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be duly

executed by themselves and their counsel:

For Plaintiffs:

Dated: 12/26/2022

Plaintiff Kenton Bowen

Dated: _____

Plaintiff Kathleen Darnell

For Class Counsel:

Dated: _____

Matthew R. Wilson Michael J. Boyle, Jr. **MEYER WILSON CO., LPA** 305 West Nationwide Boulevard Columbus, Ohio 43215 Telephone: (614) 224-6000 Facsimile: (614) 224-6066 mwilson@meyerwilson.com mboyle@meyerwilson.com

Dated:

David Stein Kyla J. Gibboney **GIBBS LAW GROUP LLP** 1111 Broadway, Suite 2100 Oakland, CA 94607 Telephone: (510) 350-9700 Facsimile: (510) 350-9701 ds@classlawgroup.com kjg@classlawgroup.com IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by themselves and their counsel:

For Plaintiffs:

Dated:

Plaintiff Kenton Bowen

Dated: 12-23-22

Warnell

Plaintiff Kathleen Darnell

For Class Counsel:

Dated:

Matthew R. Wilson Michael J. Boyle, Jr. **MEYER WILSON CO., LPA** 305 West Nationwide Boulevard Columbus, Ohio 43215 Telephone: (614) 224-6000 Facsimile: (614) 224-6066 mwilson@meyerwilson.com mboyle@meyerwilson.com

Dated: 1-3-23

David Stein Kyla J. Gibboney **GIBBS LAW GROUP LLP** 1111 Broadway, Suite 2100 Oakland, CA 94607 Telephone: (510) 350-9700 Facsimile: (510) 350-9701 ds@classlawgroup.com kjg@classlawgroup.com IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be duly

executed by themselves and their counsel:

For Plaintiffs:

Dated: ______ Plaintiff Kenton Bowen

Dated:

Plaintiff Kathleen Darnell

For Class Counsel: Dated: 1/3/23

Matthew R. Wilson Michael J. Boyle, Jr. **MEYER WILSON CO., LPA** 305 West Nationwide Boulevard Columbus, Ohio 43215 Telephone: (614) 224-6000 Facsimile: (614) 224-6066 mwilson@meyerwilson.com mboyle@meyerwilson.com

Dated:

David Stein Kyla J. Gibboney **GIBBS LAW GROUP LLP** 1111 Broadway, Suite 2100 Oakland, CA 94607 Telephone: (510) 350-9700 Facsimile: (510) 350-9701 ds@classlawgroup.com kjg@classlawgroup.com

Dated: 1/4/23

T. Brandon Waddell Michael A. Caplan **CAPLAN COBB LLP** 75 Fourteenth Street, NE, Suite 2750 Atlanta, Georgia 30309 Telephone: (404) 596-5600 Facsimile: (404) 596-5604 mcaplan@caplancobb.com bwaddell@caplancobb.com

For Defendant Porsche Cars North America, Inc.:

By: <u>Jeorge Frygin</u>

Name: <u>George Feygin</u>

Title:^{General Counsel}

Counsel for Defendant Porsche Cars North America, Inc.:

Dated:

Cari K. Dawson Kara F. Kennedy **ALSTON & BIRD LLP** 1201 West Peachtree Street Atlanta, Georgia 30309- 3424 Telephone: 404-881-7000 Facsimile: 404-881-7777 cari.dawson@alston.com kara.kennedy@alston.com

For Defendant Porsche Cars North America, Inc.:

Dated: _____ By: _____

Name: _____

Title:

Counsel for Defendant Porsche Cars North America, Inc.:

Dated: 1/6/23

Kan Jahm Cari K. Dawson

Cari K. Dawson^{*} Kara F. Kennedy **ALSTON & BIRD LLP** 1201 West Peachtree Street Atlanta, Georgia 30309- 3424 Telephone: 404-881-7000 Facsimile: 404-881-7777 cari.dawson@alston.com kara.kennedy@alston.com

<u>Exhibit 1</u>

<u>CLAIM FORM</u>

Bowen v. Porsche N.A., Inc., Case No. 21-cv-00471-MHC (N.D. Ga.)

Step 1: Verify the below information is correct. If it is incorrect or missing, update it below:

[Auto Fill Name] [Auto Fill Address 1] [Auto Fill Address 2] [Auto Fill City], [Auto Fill State] [Auto Fill Zip Code]

[Auto Fill Email]

[<mark>Auto Fill VIN</mark>]

Signature:

Vehicle Identification Number (VIN): The VIN is a 17-character number that can be found on the driver's side dashboard or driver's side door post. The VIN also appears on your registration card and insurance card.

Step 2: Verify that you were in possession of your Porsche vehicle on May 20, 2020.

I owned or leased a [Auto Fill Porsche vehicle model year and model] equipped with a satellite radio receiver from approximately ______ until approximately ______.

Note: Exact dates are not required; approximations that show possession on May 20, 2020, are sufficient (e.g., "February 2019" or "Spring 2019" to "July 2020" or "present"). "May 2020," however, would require greater specificity because that does not show whether you were in possession on May 20, 2020.

Step 3: Check the box for EITHER Option 1 OR Option 2 and fill in the required information.

<u>Op</u>	Option 1: I would like to be reimbursed for my out-of-pocket expenses and have supporting documents		
1.	Provide the total out-of-pocket expenses you incurred on or after May 20, 2020, related to your vehicle's infotainment system (or "PCM") reboting issues:		
 <u>Out-of-pocket expenses eligible for reimbursement include</u>: PCM replacements or repairs, battery replacements due to PCM rebooting, and towing and alternative transportation costs incurred while reco the repair/replacement. To be eligible for reimbursement, the towing and alternative transportation costs have been incurred no later than 48 hours after completion of the repair or replacement. 			
2.	Provide the required documentation: UPLOAD FILES*		
	 For a repair or replacement: Provide documents (e.g., your repair invoice) that shows (i) the repair type, (ii) date, and (iii) amount paid. For towing and alternative transportation: Provide documents that show (i) what you purchased (e.g., a rental car, rideshare/taxi, or towing), (ii) date, (iii) amount paid (e.g., receipt, credit card, or bank statement), and (iv) date and nature of the associated repair. 		
	□ I certify that I have not previously been reimbursed by Porsche or a Porsche dealer for the out-of-pocket expenses identified above.		
<u>Op</u>	tion 2: I did not incur out-of-pocket expenses or do not have supporting documents.		
	tion 2: I did not incur out-of-pocket expenses or do not have supporting documents. To the best of my knowledge, I expended approximately hours addressing the rebooting of my PCM on or after May 20, 2020. Note: Any number of hours over 0 will suffice.		
1.	To the best of my knowledge, I expended approximately hours addressing the rebooting of my PCM on or after May 20, 2020.		
1. 2.	To the best of my knowledge, I expended approximately hours addressing the rebooting of my PCM on or after May 20, 2020. Note: <i>Any number of hours over 0 will suffice</i> . I have not previously been reimbursed by Porsche or a Porsche dealer for out-of-pocket expenses incurred to		
1. 2.	To the best of my knowledge, I expended approximately hours addressing the rebooting of my PCM on or after May 20, 2020. Note: Any number of hours over 0 will suffice. I have not previously been reimbursed by Porsche or a Porsche dealer for out-of-pocket expenses incurred to address rebooting of my PCM.		
1. 2.	To the best of my knowledge, I expended approximately hours addressing the rebooting of my PCM on or after May 20, 2020. Note: <i>Any number of hours over 0 will suffice.</i> I have not previously been reimbursed by Porsche or a Porsche dealer for out-of-pocket expenses incurred to address rebooting of my PCM. I would like to receive		
1. 2.	To the best of my knowledge, I expended approximately hours addressing the rebooting of my PCM on or after May 20, 2020. Note: Any number of hours over 0 will suffice. I have not previously been reimbursed by Porsche or a Porsche dealer for out-of-pocket expenses incurred to address rebooting of my PCM. I would like to receive A payment of \$25		

SUBMIT

Date:

After your claim is received, it will be reviewed by the Court-appointed settlement administrator, who will notify you if your claim is deficient (for example, if it is missing required information or documentation). Once your claim has been verified, the settlement administrator will notify you of the compensation you are entitled to receive and provide instructions for selecting between different payment options. Please look for an email from the domain @abdataclassactionmail.com.

*If you prefer to submit your claim by mail, print the completed claim form and any supporting documents and mail them to: [Settlement Administrator Address]

Exhibit 2

[Email Notice]

If your Porsche experienced rebooting of the Porsche Communication Management System ("PCM" or infotainment system) on or after May 20, 2020, you may be entitled to a cash payment.

A federal court authorized this notice.

You are receiving this notice because you may be a class member in a proposed class action settlement related to allegations that some Porsche infotainment systems (the PCM 3.1 system with satellite antennae) went into a reboot cycle on or after May 20, 2020. Porsche denies these claims and any wrongdoing. The court has not decided who is right, but the parties reached a settlement to avoid a trial and provide class members with compensation now.

Am I included? You are a member of the settlement class if, as of May 20, 2020, you owned or leased a Porsche vehicle that was equipped with an XM satellite radio antenna and a PCM 3.1 infotainment system. You are receiving this notice because records show that you may be a member of the class.

What can I get? Class members may claim: (1) reimbursement of their out-of-pocket costs related to PCM rebooting (subject to certain limitations), including PCM replacements or repairs, battery replacements, towing, and alternative transportation costs; or (2) if you spent time dealing with the rebooting issue but have no out-of-pocket costs or don't have documentation of your out-of-pocket costs, your choice between a \$25 payment or a \$50 Porsche dealer credit.

What if my vehicle is currently experiencing PCM rebooting issues or does in the future? You can make a claim for expenses incurred up to one year after the Court's Fairness Hearing. However, to get reimbursed for eligible out-of-pocket expenses that you incur after receiving this notice, you must take your vehicle to an authorized Porsche dealer for repairs.

How do I make a claim? You can make a claim at www.PorschePCMSettlement.com. The deadline to make a claim is Month, 00, 0000. This date could change, so please visit the website for updated information on the deadline to submit a claim.

To opt-out: If you wish to forego these benefits and not participate in the settlement, you may exclude yourself. Opt-out requests must be postmarked by Month 00, 0000. Please visit www.PorschePCMSettlement.com for more information.

To object: If you wish to object to the proposed settlement, you may do so by filing a written objection with the Court by Month 00, 0000. Please visit www.PorschePCMSettlement.com for more information.

For more information, call the Settlement Administrator's toll free number (***_****) or visit www.PorschePCMSettlement.com.

Exhibit 3

Long Form Notice

United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia

If your Porsche Communication Management System ("PCM" or infotainment system) experienced rebooting on or after May 20, 2020, you could get a payment from a class action settlement.

A court authorized this notice. This is not a solicitation from a lawyer.

- A class action settlement has followed from allegations that some Porsche infotainment systems (the PCM 3.1 system with XM satellite antenna) went into a reboot cycle on or after May 20, 2020. Porsche denies any wrongdoing. The parties have reached a settlement to avoid a trial and provide class members with compensation now.
- The settlement will provide (1) reimbursement of out-of-pocket costs incurred to address PCM rebooting (subject to certain limitations), including PCM replacements or repairs, battery replacements, towing, and alternative transportation costs, up to \$7,500; or (2) if you spent time dealing with the rebooting issue but have no out-of-pocket costs to claim or don't have documentation of your out-of-pocket costs, your choice between (a) a \$25 payment or (b) a \$50 dealer credit.
- To qualify, you must have owned or leased a Porsche vehicle as of May 20, 2020, that was equipped with an XM satellite radio antenna and a PCM 3.1 system.

YOUR LEGAL RIGHTS AND OPTIONS IN THIS SETTLEMENT:		
SUBMIT A CLAIM FORM	The <u>only</u> way to get a payment is to submit a valid claim. All claims must be received by Month 00, 0000.	
EXCLUDE YOURSELF	This is the only option that allows you to ever be part of any other lawsuit against Porsche about the legal claims in this case. Requests for exclusion must be electronically submitted or postmarked by Month 00, 0000.	
Овјест	Write to the Court about why you don't like the settlement by Month 00, 0000.	
GO TO A HEARING	Ask to speak in Court about the fairness of the settlement.	

Your legal rights are affected whether you act or don't act. Read this Notice carefully.

QUESTIONS? CALL 1-800-0000 TOLL FREE, OR VISIT WWW.PORSCHEPCMSETTLEMENT.COM Notice in Spanish is available upon request.

- These rights and options —and the deadlines to exercise them —are explained in this notice.
- The Court in charge of this case still must decide whether to approve the settlement. Payments will be made if the Court approves the settlement and after any appeals are resolved. Please be patient.

BASIC INFORMATION

1. Why did I get this notice?

Porsche's records indicate that you may have owned or leased a Porsche vehicle equipped with an XM satellite radio antenna and Porsche Communications Management (PCM) infotainment system 3.1 as of May 20, 2020.

The Court sent you this notice because you have a right to know about a proposed settlement of a class action lawsuit, and about your options, before the Court decides whether to approve the settlement. If the Court approves it and after objections and appeals are resolved, an administrator appointed by the Court will make the payments provided by the settlement. You will be informed of the progress of the settlement through updates to the settlement website: www.PorschePCMSettlement.com.

This notice explains the lawsuit, the settlement, your legal rights, what benefits are available, who is eligible for them, and how to get them.

The Court in charge of the case is the United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia, and the case is known as *Bowen v. Porsche Cars N.A., Inc.,* Case No. 1:21-cv-00471. The people who sued are called the Plaintiffs, and the company they are suing, Porsche Cars North America, Inc., is called the Defendant.

2. What is this lawsuit about?

The lawsuit claims that Porsche is responsible for PCM rebooting issues in certain Porsche vehicles that occurred on or about May 20, 2020. Plaintiffs claim that some vehicle owners had to pay out-of-pocket to repair or replace their PCM system, while other vehicle owners were inconvenienced by the time they spent addressing the rebooting issues. Porsche denies these claims or that it did anything wrong. The Court has not decided who is right.

3. Why is this a class action?

In a class action, one or more people called Class Representatives (in this case, Kent Bowen and Kathleen Darnell) sue on behalf of people who have similar claims. All of these people are a Class or Class Members. In a class action, one court resolves the issues for all Class Members, except for those who exclude themselves from the Class. U.S. District Judge Mark Cohen is in charge of this class action.

4. Why is there a settlement?

The Court did not decide in favor of Plaintiffs or Defendant. Instead, both parties agreed to a settlement. The settlement allows Plaintiffs and Defendant to avoid the cost of a trial, and the Class Members affected by PCM rebooting will be eligible for compensation. The Class Representatives and their attorneys think the settlement is best for all settlement Class Members.

WHO IS IN THE SETTLEMENT

To receive compensation under this settlement, you must be a Class Member.

5. How do I know if I am part of the settlement?

If the settlement is approved, Judge Cohen will decide that everyone who fits this description is a Class Member: *All entities and individuals in the United States who, as of May 20, 2020, owned or leased a Porsche vehicle equipped with an XM radio antenna and Porsche Communication Management (PCM) system 3.1.*

Excluded from the class are Defendant, any Released Persons, Class Counsel, and the Court, as well as the Court's spouse, and any person within the third degree of relationship to either of them.

6. Which Porsche vehicles are included?

Porsche has identified the following models as being equipped with a PCM 3.1 infotainment system:

- Panamera, model years 2010-2016
- Cayenne, model years 2011-2016
- 911 Carrera, model years 2012-2016
- Boxster, model years 2012-2016
- Cayman, model years 2012-2016
- Macan, model years 2015-2016

In addition, the vehicle must be equipped with an XM satellite radio antenna.

To determine if your vehicle is included in the settlement, you can look up your Vehicle Identification Number (VIN) on the settlement website (<u>www.PorschePCMSettlement.com</u>). The VIN is a 17-character number that can be found on the driver's side dashboard or driver's side door post. The VIN also appears on your registration card and insurance card.

7. If I have an eligible Porsche vehicle but have not experienced rebooting issues, am I included?

Yes. If you have an eligible Porsche vehicle, you are included in the settlement (unless you exclude yourself) even if you have not experienced rebooting issues. If you are currently experiencing PCM rebooting issues, if you previously experienced rebooting issues on or after May 20, 2020, or if you experience them in the future at any time before **Month**, **00**, **0000**, you can make a claim under this settlement until **Month**, **00**, **0000**. This date could change, so please visit

www.PorschePCMSettlement.com for the most updated information on the deadline to submit a claim.

However, to make a claim for reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses that you incurred after receiving this notice, **you must take your vehicle to an authorized Porsche dealer for repairs**. Please visit www.PorschePCMSettlement.com for more information.

8. I'm still not sure if I am included.

If you are still not sure whether you are included, you can ask for free help by calling 1-800-000-0000 or visiting www.PorschePCMSettlement.com. Or you can fill out the claim form to see if you qualify.

THE SETTLEMENT BENEFITS—WHAT YOU GET

9. What does the settlement provide?

The settlement provides two options for compensation.

Under Option 1, Porsche has agreed to reimburse out-of-pocket costs spent by Class Members to address PCM 3.1 rebooting issues experienced on or after May 20, 2020 and before **Month**, **00**, **0000**, including PCM replacements or repairs, battery replacements, towing, and alternative transportation costs while receiving the repair/replacement. To be reimbursed, towing and alternative transportation costs must have been incurred due to repairs or replacements to resolve the PCM rebooting issues and must have been incurred no later than 48 hours after the completion of the repair or replacement. Additionally, for repairs or replacement performed after [Month X, 2023], the repair or replacement must be performed by an authorized Porsche dealer to be reimbursed. All claims under Option 1 must be substantiated with documentation, are limited to out-of-pocket costs that have not already been reimbursed by Porsche or a Porsche dealer, and are subject to a limitation of \$7,500 per claim.

Under Option 2, Porsche has agreed to provide Class Members that spent time dealing with the rebooting issue but have no out-of-pocket costs to claim or don't have documentation of such costs a choice between either (1) a \$25 payment or (2) a \$50 Porsche dealer credit.

Class Members may only recover once per eligible vehicle. A Class Member may submit a claim under Option 1 for one eligible vehicle and another claim under Option 2 for a different eligible vehicle, but may not submit multiple claims related to a single eligible vehicle.

To receive any money, you must submit a valid and timely claim form.

10. How do I get reimbursed for my out-of-pocket costs?

If you have incurred out-of-pocket costs stemming from reboots of your PCM, you may make a claim for reimbursement. These expenses include PCM replacements or repairs, battery replacements, towing, and alternative transportation costs (for example, rideshares, taxis, or rental cars) while receiving the repair/replacement. In order to be reimbursed for any towing and alternative transportation costs, you must have incurred the costs before or no later than 48 hours after receiving a

repair or replacement to resolve the rebooting issue. The maximum amount of reimbursement you can receive is **\$7,500**.

In order to receive your reimbursement, you must complete Option 1 on the claim form and submit your completed claim form, along with documentation (e.g., receipts) of your out-of-pocket expenses by Month 00, 0000.* You may submit your claim online at

www.PorschePCMSettlement.com, or by mail. To make a claim by mail, send your claim form and documentation to the address below:

[ADDRESS]

*This date could change, so please visit www.PorschePCMSettlement.com for the most updated information on the deadline to submit a claim.

After you have submitted your claim, the court-appointed settlement administrator will review it and notify you if your claim is deficient (e.g., if it is missing required information). Once your claim has been verified, the settlement administrator will notify you of the compensation you are entitled to receive and provide instructions for selecting between various payment options.

11. If I do not have any out-of-pocket costs from the rebooting of my PCM or do not have documentation of my out-of-pocket costs, can I make a claim?

Yes. If you spent time addressing the rebooting of your PCM and you either did not incur any out-ofpocket costs or you do not have documentation of such costs, you may still make a claim. To make a claim without any documentation, you must complete Option 2 of the claim form, stating: (1) the model year, model, and VIN of your Porsche vehicle; (2) the approximate dates during which you owned or leased the Porsche vehicle; and (3) your estimate of how much time you spent addressing the reboot of your PCM on or after May 20, 2020.

Upon providing such information as part of your claim, you will choose whether to receive either (1) a \$25 payment or (2) a \$50 Porsche dealership credit.

In order to receive your settlement award, **your completed** claim form containing the required information must be received by Month 00, 0000.* You may submit your claim online at www.PorschePCMSettlement.com, or by mail. To make a claim by mail, send your claim form and documentation to the address below:

[ADDRESS]

*This date could change, so please visit www.PorschePCMSettlement.com for the most updated information on the deadline to submit a claim.

After you have submitted your claim, the court-appointed settlement administrator will review it and notify you if your claim is deficient (e.g., if it is missing required information). If your claim is determined to be valid and you elected to receive the \$25 payment, the settlement administrator will notify you and provide instructions for selecting between various payment options. If your claim is determined to be valid and you elected to receive the \$50 dealer credit, Porsche will send you a dealer voucher.

12. If my PCM experiences rebooting issues in the future, may I make a claim?

Yes. If your PCM experiences rebooting at any time on or before **Month 00, 0000**, you may make a claim. All claims must be received by the settlement administrator by **Month 00, 0000**. These dates

QUESTIONS? CALL 1-800-0000 TOLL FREE, OR VISIT WWW.PORSCHEPCMSETTLEMENT.COM Notice in Spanish is available upon request. could change, so please visit www.PorschePCMSettlement.com for the most updated information on the deadline to submit a claim. You may only make one claim per vehicle under the settlement.

In order to make a claim for reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses that you incur after Month 00, 0000, you must take your vehicle to an authorized Porsche dealer for repairs.

HOW YOU GET A PAYMENT—SUBMITTING A CLAIM FORM

13. How can I get a payment?

To qualify for any payment, you must submit a valid and timely claim form. Read the instructions carefully, fill out the form, provide all the documents the form asks for, and either submit it online or mail it so that it is received no later than Month 00, 0000.

The court-appointed settlement administrator will review your claim, notify you if your claim is deficient (e.g., if it is missing required information). Once your claim has been verified, the settlement administrator will notify you of the compensation you are entitled to receive and provide instructions for selecting between various payment options.

14. When would I get my payment?

The Court will hold a Fairness Hearing on **Month 00, 0000**, to decide whether to approve the settlement. If Judge Cohen approves the settlement, there may be appeals after approval. It's always uncertain whether these appeals can be resolved, and resolving them can take time, perhaps more than a year. Everyone who sends in a claim form will be informed of the progress of the settlement through updates to the settlement website. Please be patient. Settlement payments will be issued once the settlement is approved and all appeals resolved.

15. What am I giving up to get a payment or stay in the Class?

Unless you exclude yourself, you are in the Class, and that means that you can't sue, continue to sue, or be part of any other lawsuit against Porsche about the legal issues in *this* case. It also means that all of the Court's orders will apply to you and legally bind you. The copy of the settlement agreement posted on www.PorschePCMSettlement.com describes in detail the legal claims that you will give up if you do not exclude yourself.

Nothing in this settlement will prevent you from pursuing claims against Porsche that are unrelated to the PCM rebooting issues that occurred on or after May 20, 2020.

EXCLUDING YOURSELF FROM THE SETTLEMENT

If you don't want compensation from this settlement, but you want to keep the right to sue or continue to sue Porsche on your own about the legal issues in *this* case, then you must take steps to exclude yourself from the settlement. This is sometimes referred to as opting out from the settlement Class.

16. How do I get out of the settlement?

To exclude yourself from the settlement, you must send a letter by mail saying that you want to be excluded from *Bowen v. Porsche Cars N.A., Inc.* Be sure to include:

- Your full name and address;
- The VIN and dates of ownership or lease of your Porsche vehicle;
- A statement that clearly indicates your desire to be excluded from the settlement Class; and
- Your signature.

Mail your request for exclusion postmarked no later than Month 00, 0000, to:

You can't exclude yourself by phone or by email.

If you ask to be excluded, you will not get any settlement payment, and you cannot object to the settlement. You will not be legally bound by anything that happens or has happened in the lawsuit. You may be able to sue (or continue to sue) Porsche in the future.

17. If I don't exclude myself, can I sue Porsche for the same thing later?

No. Unless you exclude yourself, you give up the right to sue Porsche for the claims that the settlement resolves. If you have a pending lawsuit, speak to your lawyer in that lawsuit immediately. You may need exclude yourself from *this* Class to continue your own lawsuit. Remember, the exclusion deadline is **Month 00, 0000**.

18. If I exclude myself, can I get money from this settlement?

No. If you exclude yourself from the settlement, you will not receive any money from the settlement. But you may sue, continue to sue, or be part of a separate lawsuit against Porsche related to the claims alleged in this case.

THE LAWYERS REPRESENTING YOU

19. Do I have a lawyer in this case?

Yes. The Court appointed the law firms of Gibbs Law Group, LLP; Meyer Wilson Co., LPA; and Caplan Cobb, LLC to represent you and other Class Members. Together, the lawyers are called Class Counsel. You do not have to pay Class Counsel. If you want to be represented by your own lawyer, you may hire one at your own expense.

Class Counsel will ask the Court for attorneys' fees and expenses up to \$2,050,000. The Court may award a different amount. Porsche will separately pay the fees and expenses that the Court awards up to \$2,050,000. These amounts will not come out of the funds for payments to Class Members. Porsche has agreed not to oppose fees and expenses up to \$2,050,000. Porsche will also separately pay the costs to administer the settlement.

OBJECTING TO THE SETTLEMENT

You can tell the Court you don't agree with the settlement or some part of it.

21. How do I tell the Court that I don't think the Settlement is fair?

If you are a Class Member, you can object to the settlement if you don't like any part of it. You can give reasons why you think the Court should not approve it. The Court will consider your views.

To object, you must send a letter saying that you object to the proposed settlement. Be sure to include:

- The case name and case number: Bowen v. Porsche Cars N.A., Inc., Case No. 1:21-cv-00471;
- Your full name, address, and current telephone number;
- The VIN and dates of ownership or lease of your Porsche vehicle;
- A statement that you have reviewed the settlement class definition and understand that you are a settlement class member, and that you have not opted out and do not plan to opt out of the settlement class;
- The specific reasons you object to the settlement;
- The name, address, bar number, and phone number of the lawyer, if any, who will represent you with respect to any objection;
- If you intend to appear at the Fairness Hearing (either in person or through a lawyer); and
- Your signature.

If you or your lawyer intend to speak at the Fairness Hearing, your objection letter **must also include**:

- A detailed statement of the legal and factual basis for your objection(s);
- A list of any witness you may seek to call at the Fairness Hearing, along with each witness's address and a summary of their proposed testimony;
- A list of legal authorities you plan to present at the Fairness Hearing.

You must mail the objection to both of the following, postmarked no later than Month 00, 0000:

THE COURT	SETTLEMENT ADMINISTRATOR
Clerk of Court	INSERT

U.S. District Court, Northern District of Georgia Richard B. Russell Federal Building 2211 United States Courthouse 75 Ted Turner Drive, SW Atlanta, GA 30303

22. What's the difference between objecting and excluding?

Objecting is simply telling the Court that you do not like something about the settlement. You can object only if you stay in the Class. Excluding yourself is telling the Court that you do not want to be part of the Class. If you exclude yourself, you cannot object because the settlement no longer affects you.

THE COURT'S FAIRNESS HEARING

The Court will hold a Fairness Hearing to decide whether to approve the settlement. You may attend, and you may ask to speak, but you don't have to.

23. When and where will the Court decide whether to approve the settlement?

The Court will hold a Fairness Hearing at **00:00am on Month 00, 0000**, at the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Georgia, Richard B. Russell Federal Building, 2211 United States Courthouse, 75 Ted Turner Drive, SW, Atlanta, GA 30303, in Courtroom 1905. The hearing may be held virtually by video conference or moved to a different date or time without additional notice, so it is a good idea to check the settlement website for updates.

At this hearing, the Court will consider whether the settlement is fair, reasonable, and adequate. If there are objections, the Court will consider them. Judge Cohen will listen to people who have asked to speak at the hearing. The Court may also decide how much to pay Class Counsel. After the hearing, the Court will decide whether to approve the settlement. We do not know how long these decisions will take.

24. Do I have to come to the hearing?

No. Class Counsel will answer questions Judge Cohen may have. But you are welcome to come at your own expense. If you send an objection, you don't have to come to Court to talk about it. As long as you mailed your written objection on time, the Court will consider it. You may also pay your own lawyer to attend, but it's not necessary.

25. May I speak at the hearing?

You may ask the Court for permission to speak at the Fairness Hearing. To do so, you must send a letter saying that it is your "Notice of Intention to Appear in *Bowen v. Porsche Cars N.A., Inc.*" Be sure to include your full name, address, telephone number, and signature. You cannot speak at the hearing if you do not file a notice on time or if you excluded yourself from the settlement Class.

You must mail your Notice of Intention to Appear to both of the following, postmarked no later than **Month 00, 0000**:

THE COURT

SETTLEMENT ADMINISTRATOR

INSERT

Clerk of Court U.S. District Court, Northern District of Georgia Richard B. Russell Federal Building 2211 United States Courthouse 75 Ted Turner Drive, SW Atlanta, GA 30303

IF YOU DO NOTHING

26. What happens if I do nothing at all?

If you do nothing, you'll get no money from this settlement. But, unless you exclude yourself, you won't be able to start a lawsuit, continue with a lawsuit, or be part of any other lawsuit against Porsche about the legal issues in *this* case, ever again.

GETTING MORE INFORMATION

27. Are there more details about the settlement?

This notice summarizes the proposed settlement. More details are provided in the Settlement Agreement, which is available on the settlement website: www.PorschePCMSettlement.com. You can also get a copy of the Settlement Agreement by writing to Matthew Wilson, Meyer Wilson Co., LPA, 305 W. Nationwide Blvd., Columbus, OH 43215.

28. How do I get more information?

You can call 1-800-000-0000 toll free; write to Porsche Settlement, P.O. Box 000 [Address]; or visit the website at www.PorschePCMSettlement.com, where you will find answers to common questions about the settlement, a claim form plus other information to help you determine whether you are a Class Member and whether you are eligible for payment.

DATE: Month 00, 0000.

<u>Exhibit 4</u>

[Postcard Notice]

A federal court authorized this notice.

Records show that you may be entitled to money from a class action settlement.

Si desea recibir esta notificación en español, visite nuestra página web o llámenos.

A class action settlement has been reached about some Porsche vehicles experiencing rebooting of the infotainment system or "PCM." Porsche PCM Settlement Administrator Toll Free Number: x-xxx-xxxx PO Box [_____] www.PorschePCMSettlement.com PRESORT FIRST CLASS U.S. POSTAGE PAID PERMIT NO. XX



Postal Service: Please do not mark barcode

UNIQUE ID: [00001234]

<<Name1>> <<Name2>> <<Address1>> <<Address2>> <<City>><<State>><<Zip>>

Am I included? You are a member of the settlement class if, as of May 20, 2020, you owned or leased a Porsche vehicle equipped with an XM satellite radio antenna and a Porsche Communication Management system ("PCM"), version 3.1 infotainment system. You are receiving this notice because records show that you may be a member of the class.

What can I get? Class members may claim: (1) reimbursement of their out-of-pocket costs related to PCM rebooting, subject to certain limitations, including PCM replacements or repairs, battery replacements, towing, and alternative transportation costs; or (2) if you spent time dealing with rebooting but have no out-of-pocket costs or don't have documentation of your out-of-pocket costs, your choice between a \$25 payment or a \$50 Porsche dealer credit.

What if my vehicle is currently experiencing PCM rebooting issues or does in the future? You can make a claim for expenses incurred up to one year after the Court's Fairness Hearing. However, to make a claim for reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses incurred after receiving this notice, you must take your vehicle to an authorized Porsche dealer for repairs.

How do I make a claim? You can make a claim online at www.PorschePCMSettlement.com. The deadline to make a claim is **Month 00, 0000**. This date could change, so please visit the website for updated information on the deadline to submit a claim.

To opt-out: If you wish to forego these benefits and not participate in the settlement, you may exclude yourself. Opt-out requests must be postmarked by **Month**, **00**, **0000**. Please visit www.PorschePCMSettlement.com for more information.

To object: If you wish to object to the proposed settlement, you may do so by filing a written objection with the Court by **Month**, **00**, **0000**. Please visit www.PorschePCMSettlement.com for more information.

For more information, call the Settlement Administrator's toll free number (***_*****) or visit www.PorschePCMSettlement.com .

<u>Exhibit 5</u>

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA ATLANTA DIVISION

KENT BOWEN and KATHLEEN DARNELL on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated,

Plaintiffs,

v.

PORSCHE CARS, N.A., INC.

Defendant.

CIVIL ACTION NO: 1:21-CV-471-MHC

ORDER GRANTING PLAINTIFFS' UNOPPOSED MOTION FOR PRELIMINARY APPROVAL OF CLASS ACTION SETTLEMENT

This matter is before the Court on Plaintiffs' Unopposed Motion for

Preliminary Approval of Class Action Settlement (the "Motion") of the above-

captioned case between Plaintiffs Kent Bowen and Kathleen Darnell (together, the

"Class Plaintiffs") and Defendant Porsche Cars, N.A., Inc. ("Porsche" or

"Defendant") (the "Action") as set forth in the Parties' Settlement Agreement (the

"Agreement," which memorializes the "Settlement").

Having duly considered the filings made in connection with the Motion,

THE COURT HEREBY FINDS AND ORDERS AS FOLLOWS:

1. The Court finds that it has jurisdiction over the Action and each of the Parties for purposes of settlement and asserts jurisdiction over the Class Plaintiffs, all Settlement Class Members, and Defendant for purposes of considering and effectuating this Settlement. The Court also preliminarily finds that each member of the proposed Settlement Class has standing to seek relief. Under the Settlement Class definition provided in the Agreement, each Settlement Class member owned or leased a vehicle that received the allegedly trespassory software update. As the Court previously held, Plaintiffs have adequately alleged that the update constituted a trespass to personalty, as well as a violation of the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act., 18 U.S.C. § 1030, sufficient to withstand dismissal on the pleadings under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). See dkt. 36 at 6-26. Each Settlement Class member has therefore sufficiently alleged that he or she has suffered an injury that is concrete, particularized, and directly analogous to an injury that historically existed at common law. In addition, under the Settlement, Settlement Class Members will not receive compensation absent a showing that they incurred an injury in the form of having spent money and/or time resolving PCM 3.1 rebooting. See Drazen v. Pinto, 41 F.4th 1354, 1360 (11th Cir. 2022) (quoting TransUnion LLC v. Ramirez, 141 S. Ct. 2190, 2204-05, 2208 (2021) ("Every class member must have Article III standing in order to recover individual damages.")).

2. Unless otherwise defined herein, all defined terms in this Order shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Agreement.

Defendant does not oppose the Court's entry of the proposed
 Preliminary Approval Order.

4. This Court has considered all of the presentations and submissions related to the Motion and, having presided over and managed this Action, is familiar with the facts, contentions, claims, and defenses as they have developed in these proceedings, and is otherwise fully advised of all relevant facts in connection therewith.

I. Preliminary Certification of the Settlement Class, Class Representatives, and Class Counsel

5. Pursuant to Rule 23(e)(1)(B)(ii), and for purposes of settlement only, the Court finds that it will likely be able to certify the Settlement Class, defined as: "All entities and individuals in the United States who, as of May 20, 2020, owned or leased an Eligible Vehicle." As defined in the Settlement Agreement, an "Eligible Vehicle" is any Porsche vehicle equipped with an XM radio antenna and PCM 3.1. Excluded from the Settlement Class are the following persons: Defendant, any Released Persons, Class Counsel, and the Court, as well as the Court's spouse, and any person within the third degree of relationship to either of them.

6. The Court finds that, for purposes of settlement only, the prerequisites for a class action under Rules 23(a), and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil

Procedure have likely been satisfied in that: (a) the members of the Settlement Class are so numerous that joinder of all Settlement Class Members in the class action is impracticable; (b) there are questions of law and fact common to the Settlement Class; (c) the claims of the Class Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of the Settlement Class; (d) the Class Plaintiffs and their counsel have fairly and adequately represented and protected the interests of Settlement Class Members; (e) the questions of law or fact common to Settlement Class Members predominate over any questions affecting only individual members; and (f) a class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy. The Court notes that the fact that it is being asked to certify a settlement class, rather than a litigation class, eliminates any manageability concerns that might otherwise arise in connection with a trial of Plaintiffs' claims. Amchem Prod., Inc. v. Windsor, 521 U.S. 591, 620 (1997) ("Confronted with a request for settlement-only class certification, a district court need not inquire whether the case, if tried, would present intractable management problems).

7. This Court finds that the following counsel are experienced and adequate for purposes of these settlement approval proceedings and appoints them as Class Counsel: Michael A. Caplan and T. Brandon Waddell of Caplan Cobb,

LLC; Matthew R. Wilson, Michael J. Boyle, Jr., and Jared W. Connors of Meyer Wilson Co., LPA; and David Stein of Gibbs Law Group LLP.

II. Preliminary Approval of the Class Settlement

8. The Court has evaluated the Settlement as set forth in the Agreement for fairness, adequacy, and reasonableness. As part of that evaluation, the Court notes that the parties reached the Settlement with the assistance of Joseph Loveland of JAMS, who oversaw the parties' negotiations, including at mediations in August 2022 (as to the class-wide relief) and in October 2022 (as to attorneys' fees and costs). Based on the Court's evaluation, the Court finds under Rule 23(e)(1)(B)(i) that it is likely to approve the Settlement in light of the fact that: (A) the class representatives and class counsel have adequately represented the class; (B) the Settlement was negotiated at arm's length; (C) the relief provided for the Settlement Class is adequate, taking into account: (i) the costs, risks, and delay of trial and appeal; (ii) the effectiveness of the proposed method of distributing relief to the class, including the method of processing Settlement Class Members' claims; (iii) the terms of the proposed award of attorney's fees, including timing of payment; and (iv) the lack of additional agreements identified under Rule 23(e)(3); and (D) the Settlement treats Settlement Class Members equitably relative to each other. Moreover, the Court has evaluated the Settlement under the additional

factors for consideration enumerated in *Bennett v. Behring Corp.*, and finds that it is likely to approve the Settlement under the *Bennett* factors as well. *See generally* 737 F.2d 982, 986 (11th Cir. 1984).

9. Based on the above findings, the Court finds that it will likely be able to approve the Settlement as fair, reasonable, and adequate, so as to warrant providing notice of the Settlement to the Settlement Class consistent with the notice plan set forth in the Agreement.

10. A Fairness Hearing shall be held before this Court on **[DATE]**, at the United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia, Richard B. Russell Federal Building, 2211 United States Courthouse, 75 Ted Turner Drive, SW, Atlanta, GA 30303, to make a final determination of whether the proposed Settlement of the Action on the terms and conditions provided for in the Settlement is fair, reasonable, and adequate to the Settlement Class and should be finally approved by the Court; to determine whether the Settlement Class should be certified; to determine whether a Final Approval Order approving the Settlement should be entered; to determine whether the plan for distribution of claims should be approved; to determine any amount of attorneys' fees and cost-reimbursements that should be awarded to Class Counsel; to hear any objections by Settlement Class Members to the Settlement, claims process, and any award of attorneys' fees

and cost reimbursements to Class Counsel; and to consider such other matters as the Court may deem appropriate. The Fairness Hearing may be continued by order of the Court without further notice to the Settlement Class except that the Parties shall update the settlement website to reflect the date of the hearing. After the Fairness Hearing, the Court may enter a Final Approval Order in accordance with the Agreement that will adjudicate the rights of the Settlement Class Members (as defined in the Settlement) with respect to the claims being settled.

11. Pursuant to Rule 23(c) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the Court appoints for settlement purposes only A.B. Data, Ltd. ("Settlement Administrator") to supervise and administer the notice procedure as well as the processing of claims as more fully set forth in the Agreement.

III. Notice to Class Members

12. Under Rule 23(c)(2), the Court finds that the content, format, and method of disseminating notice under the Settlement Class Notice Program, as set forth in the Motion and the Settlement Agreement, is (i) the best notice practicable under the circumstances; (ii) reasonably calculated to apprise the Settlement Class of their right to object or exclude themselves from the Settlement; and (iii) constitutes due, adequate, and sufficient notice to all persons entitled to receive notice. The Court approves such notice, and hereby directs that such notice be

disseminated no later than 30 days following the entry of this Order, in the manner set forth in the proposed Agreement to Settlement Class Members under Rule 23(e)(1).

13. The Court approves the form of the Notices and Claim Form attached as Exhibits 1 through 4 to the Settlement Agreement. The Court expressly authorizes and instructs the Settlement Administrator to send the Reminder Notice, as provided in Paragraph 19 of the Agreement. The Court also directs that the Settlement Administrator shall permit claims to be completed and submitted online through an electronic claim form.

14. The Settlement Administrator shall send the CAFA Notice required by 28 U.S.C. § 1715 to the appropriate federal and state officials as identified in 28 U.S.C. § 1715(a) within 10 days after the Motion for Preliminary Approval is filed with the Court.

15. The Settlement Administrator will provide to Class Counsel no later than 10 days prior to the Fairness Hearing, a declaration reflecting that the Settlement Class Notice Program has been executed in accordance with the Settlement Agreement and Preliminary Approval Order, which will be filed with the Court.

16. Settlement Class Members who wish to either object to the Settlement or request to be excluded from it must submit a written request to do so, postmarked no later than the Objection Date and Opt-Out Date of [**DATE**], which is 30 days before the Final Fairness Hearing. Settlement Class Members may not both object and opt out. If a Settlement Class Member submits both an Opt-Out Request and an Objection, the Opt-Out Request will be controlling.

17. To submit an Opt-Out Request, a Settlement Class Member must follow the directions in the Notice and send a compliant request to the Settlement Administrator at the address designated in the Class Notice by the Opt-Out Date. In the Opt-Out Request, the Settlement Class Member must provide (i) the potential Settlement Class Member's name, address, and Vehicle Identification Number (VIN) and dates of ownership or lease of the potential Settlement Class Member's Eligible Vehicle(s); (ii) an unequivocal statement that the Settlement Class Member wishes to be excluded from the Settlement Class; and (iii) the signature of the Settlement Class Member or the Legally Authorized Representative of the Settlement Class Member. Requests for exclusion must be exercised individually by the Settlement Class Member and are only effective as to the individual Settlement Class Member requesting exclusion 18. If a timely and valid Opt-Out Request is made by a member of the Settlement Class, then that person will not be a Settlement Class Member, and the Agreement and any determinations and judgments concerning it will not bind the excluded person.

19. All Settlement Class Members who do not opt out in accordance with the terms set forth in the Agreement will be bound by all proceedings, orders, and judgments in the Action, even if such Settlement Class Member has previously initiated or subsequently initiates individual litigation or other proceedings encompassed by the Release.

20. To object to the Settlement, Settlement Class Members must follow the directions in the Notice and file a written objection with the Court by the Objection Date. In the written objection, the Settlement Class Member must state (i) the name of the case and case number; (ii) the name, address, telephone number, VIN and dates of ownership or lease of the Settlement Class Member's Eligible Vehicle(s); (iii) a statement that the objector has reviewed the Settlement Class definition and understands that he or she is a Settlement Class Member, and has not opted out and does not plan to opt out of the Settlement Class; (iv) the specific reasons why the Settlement Class Member objects to the Proposed Settlement; (v) the name, address, bar number, and telephone number of the objecting Settlement

Class Member's counsel, if any, and any such attorney must comply with all applicable rules of the Court; and (vi) whether the objecting Settlement Class Member intends to appear at the Fairness Hearing, either in person or through counsel.

21. In addition, an objection must contain the following information if the Settlement Class Member or his or her attorney requests permission to speak at the Fairness Hearing: (i) a detailed statement of the legal and factual basis for each objection; (ii) a list of any and all witnesses the Settlement Class Member may seek to call at the Fairness Hearing (subject to applicable rules of procedure and evidence and at the discretion of the Court), with the address of each witness and a summary of his or her proposed testimony; and (iii) a list of any legal authority the Settlement Class Member will present at the Fairness Hearing. Any attorney hired by a Settlement Class Member for purposes of objecting to the Settlement or intervening in this Action must file a notice of appearance with Clerk of Court, and provide the Settlement Administrator with a copy thereof, no later than **[DATE]**, the deadline for submitting objections.

22. Any Settlement Class Member who does not submit a timely objection may, in the discretion of the Court, waive the right to object or to be

heard at the Fairness Hearing and be barred from making any objection to the Proposed Settlement.

23. The Settlement Administrator shall establish a post office box and email address in the name of the Settlement Administrator to be used for receiving Opt-Out Requests, Claim Forms, and any other communications from Settlement Class Members. Only the Settlement Administrator, the Court, the Clerk of the Court, and their designated agents shall have access to this post office box and email account, except as otherwise provided in the Settlement Agreement. The Settlement Administrator shall promptly provide copies of all Objections, Opt-Out Requests, motions to intervene, notices of intention to appear, and other communications to Class Counsel and Defendant's counsel.

24. The Settlement Administrator shall also create and maintain the Settlement Website consistent with the terms of Paragraphs 25-27 of the Agreement, including that Class Members shall be permitted to submit Claim Forms to the Settlement Administrator via the Settlement Website. The Settlement Administrator shall make that Website publicly available until 60 days after the end of the Claims Period. The Website may be amended during the course of administering the Settlement as appropriate and as agreed to by both Parties.

25. Class Counsel shall file their Motion for an Award of Attorneys' Fees, Expenses, and Costs at least 21 days prior to the Objection Date.

26. The Settlement Administrator shall provide the final Opt-Out List to Class Counsel and Defendant's Counsel no later than 10 days before the Final Fairness Hearing, along with an affidavit or declaration attesting to its accuracy. Plaintiffs shall file this report with the Court prior to the Final Fairness Hearing.

27. All Settlement Class Members are preliminarily enjoined from: (i) filing, commencing, prosecuting, intervening in, or participating as plaintiff, claimant, or class member in any other lawsuit or administrative, regulatory, arbitral, or other proceeding in any jurisdiction based on the Released Claims; (ii) filing, commencing, participating in, or prosecuting a lawsuit or administrative, regulatory, arbitral, or other proceeding as a class action on behalf of any member of the Settlement Class who has not timely excluded himself or herself (including by seeking to amend a pending complaint to include class allegations or seeking class certification in a pending action), based on the Released Claims; or (iii) attempting to effect Opt-Outs of a class of individuals in any lawsuit or administrative, regulatory, arbitral, or other proceeding based on, relating to, or arising out of the claims and causes of action or the facts and circumstances giving rise to the Action and/or the Released Claims. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this

provision, and any other provision of the Settlement Agreement, does not prevent members of the Settlement Class from participating in any action or investigation initiated by a state or federal agency.

28. Pending the final determination of whether the Settlement should be approved, all pre-trial proceedings and briefing schedules in the Action are stayed. If the Settlement is terminated or final approval does not for any reason occur, the stay will be immediately terminated.

29. If the Settlement is not approved or consummated for any reason whatsoever, the Settlement and all proceedings in connection with the Settlement will be without prejudice to the right of Defendant or the Class Plaintiffs to assert any right or position that could have been asserted if the Agreement had never been reached or proposed to the Court. In such an event, the Parties will return to the status quo ante in the Action, and the certification of the Settlement Class will be deemed vacated. The certification of the Settlement Class for settlement purposes, or any briefing or materials submitted seeking certification of the Settlement Class, will not be considered in connection with any subsequent class certification decision.

30. The Agreement and any and all negotiations, documents, and discussions associated with it, will not be deemed or construed to be an admission

or evidence of any violation of any statute, law, rule, regulation, or principle of common law or equity, or of any liability or wrongdoing, by Defendant, or the truth of any of the claims, and evidence relating to the Agreement will not be discoverable or used, directly or indirectly, in any way, whether in the Action or in any other action or proceeding, except for purposes of demonstrating, describing, implementing, or enforcing the terms and conditions of the Agreement, this Order, and the Final Approval Order.

31. Counsel are hereby authorized to use all reasonable procedures in connection with approval and administration of the Settlement. The Court reserves the right to approve the Agreement with such modifications, if any, as may be agreed to by the Parties without further notice to the members of the Class.

32. Accordingly, the following are the deadlines by which certain events must occur:

Event	Deadline
Class notice mailed or emailed (as required by the Settlement Agreement) to individuals on the Class Notice List	[DATE] (30 days after entry of this Order.)
Last day for Class Counsel to file motion seeking final settlement approval and award of attorneys' fees and cost reimbursements	[DATE] (21 days prior to Opt-Out Date/Objection Date)

Last day for Settlement Class Members to object or opt out of the Settlement	[DATE] (30 days prior to the Fairness Hearing)
Last day for replies in support of motion for final approval and award of attorneys' fees and cost reimbursements	[DATE] (14 days prior to the Fairness Hearing)
Fairness Hearing	[DATE]. (At least 105 days after entry of Preliminary Approval Order)

33. The Court shall maintain continuing jurisdiction over these

proceedings for the benefit of the Settlement Class defined in this Order.

IT IS SO ORDERED this XXth day of [MONTH], 2023.

Hon. Mark Cohen United States District Court Judge